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Street, aged _____(/—\__SZ__ years,
being duly sworn deposes and says,
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- Police Court—..

GLitg andy @onnty. s g5
of Hety Hork, N

Qf.N'o. \5\

< ..being du&y sworn
St eet, ....... Lh ) 2 Wora

" .in the £ity and Oounztz/ aforesaid the said bez'ng @24 €L M _ARAAL A2 6

and in whick there was at the time Aé,l]buman being, W

Ny

were BUR&/ YO USIY entered by means o*"fm cibly .
LA e

/f(—/ S o 1 /in the xé?% time, and the

followwnq propér ty elonzouslg/ taken, sto?, and carried arwaly, viz:

the property of.. e e
and deponent further says, t/z,at /L@ lz,as‘ great ca, eve, gnd, (ZOéS‘ be]gve, tﬂaf t]w ajm esaid
BURGIL.ARY was commstted and the afor esazd 22 ope"f’ty taien s; len and caryied away by
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Magistrate,

v B0 AN8EE General Sessions.

on the complaint of

" TIIE PEOPLE, ¢,

s

Witnesses,
No.

Police Court, ______ District,




o

aged 7//f years, occupation ‘/M//t/¢( of No.
] .
‘& » / @M% /‘7( Street, befzzgr;depose and
{ -
says, that he has heard read the foregoing affidavit of / 4 \Q/Z’a C

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponent’s own

O 4% SO Je —
m@@uﬁc// ¢ /%M&(

knowledge.

Sworn to before me, t]w’s?/ﬁ \'Zﬂ/ %ﬁ &
day of (/(\///V\ 189/}7: } ’ Sl

U

T

y e (O %’oyh'ce Justice.




Sec. 198—200

&?\District Police Court.

being duly examined before the under-
signed accouilncr to law, on the annexed charge; and being informed that it is h right to

male a statement in rslation to the charge a,ﬂ'a.lnst h - that the statement is designed to
if he see fit to answer the charge anﬁ/et;;lmn the facts alleged against h .2
h é waiver cannot be “used

CITY ARND COUNTY {
: P YORK, 88,

enable h
that ~he is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that

against on the trial.

S tﬂi&younnam%%{( |
: r
A nswer._ [\ x4 __. ——C - e e

N Question ld _are you ?._
Answer. Zl W

Question.  Where were vou born ?

Answer. { . X A IR X e

Where do you live, and how long have you resided there ?

Question.

dnser. 7D I Dy — 2 eeces

_your business or profession?

Answer.

Give any explanation you may thinlk -broper of the circumstances _appearing in the

Question.
testlmony against yowu,

and state any facts which you think will tend to your

pip o -

. m




Sec. 198-200. ’ . ‘ : District Police Court.

r ' -
WI‘ 7 %q/% being duly examined before zhe under-.
=

signed according to law, on the annexed chg#fe; and being informed that it is h &2 right to

make a statement in relation to the charge amnnstﬁw that the statement .is designed to
enable if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the i\acts alleged against h —h-
that The is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h~—> waiver cannot be used

against h "“x~. on the trial.

f——-Question. . Whatis. gourmname? .. . __ ..

A AnSWER. T T A

d —Question._. How. old are you? . _

e Question. . "W here were you born ?

_Answer. ¥ A

__Question. Where do you live, and how long have yon resided there?

o Answer.

__ Answer.

_Question, = Five any. explanation you may think proper of the circumstances a.ppeaunoi__ in_the
ony agajnst youm, and state any facts whlch you think will fend to your

Vi 0 D403 oy
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1t appearing to me by the within depositions and statements tat the crime therein mentioned has been
.

commnitied, and that there is sufficient cau%ve the within named

//// J{/

—and be o e e Warden and Keeper of

Police Justice.

I have admitted the above-named.

to bail to answer by the undertaking hereto annexed.

Police Justice.

Dated 188

leere being no sufficient cause to belicve Lhe within ﬁameﬂ

guilty of the offence within mentioned, I order Zo be discharged.

~Lolice Justice.




@ouwrt of Genernl Sessions of the PLeace

.( ¢ OF THE cITY AND;CQUNTY OF NEW YORK.
. i A :

of the CrRiME oF BURGLARY IN THE THIRD DEGREE, committed as follows:

Thesald% \@ W% Vé}/«u,w C W %ré?é

la,te of the _ \C/Mﬂéuu% Ward of the(Cmy of New York, in the County of New York

[ -, -
aforesa,ld on the W Mday of in the year of our Lord one

‘tHousand eight Hundréd 'an}i p(%/é/: & ~, with force and arms, in the

time of the same d%%m Count aforeszud 'bhe_

/‘ .
riously --did - break into and enter, with intent to

-

of the said
then and there being, then and

’ N
there feloniously and burglariously to steal, take and carry away, against the form of

the Statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the ‘Pebple ‘of the
: \




R = ’-I o

BOX:
438
4035

DESCRIPTION:

Koenigsberger, Charles
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NEW. YORK GENﬁBAL SESSIONS:

THE PEOPLE ETG

‘ agst.. T
 €HARLES KOENIGSBERGER..

TO HON. .JAMES FITZGERALD
JUDGE of the COURT of GENERAL SESSIONS.

WE the Mder31ghed the JURORS who sat in judgment on
the above case, do most respectfully ask that in view of
the defendant's past character, and of the c1rcumstances of |
the k:|.111ng, that Your Honor will when pronouncing upon him,

'bhe sen'bence of 'bhe law, exerc1se all possible elemency in

4 'vnrs‘mm—“ T

Da-t.eQ January 29t-h 1892. '
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THE PEOPLE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS, PART I.

vs.
CHARLES KOENIGSBERGER. BEFORE GUDGE FITZGERALD.

) Tuesday, Jamary 19, 1892.
Jointly indicted with WILLIAXM LANGEHEINE for rmirder

in the first degree.

Asst. Dist. Atty. McIntyre for the People,

Mr Moss for the Defendant.

L

A Jury was empannelled and sworn.

TSI SN

ST

GUSTAV SCHEURMAN, :sworn andg examined through the

&Interpreter, by Mr.McIntyre:

;jWhere did you live on the 12th day of last February?

H A. No.153 East 4th Street.

éWhat was your business at tnat times? A. Pastry cook.

;,vQ._
-Q. "Well, dig you live in the Confectionery A

i

i
i
{

ssociation in 4th

- Street? A. Yes sir.

Qa:,How long had you lived theree9 A. About two weeks;

- whenever I was out of work I lived there, at that time I

lived for about two weeks.

Do::you know this man at the bar, the defendantg

A. Yes sir,

Did you see him on the 12th day of last February?

A. Yes sir,
Whereceo A. In his reétaurant.
Where is his restaurant? A. 168 Houston Street.

Were you in themhabit of eating there? A. Yes sir.

That restaurant was down in g basement, was it?

A. Yes sir.

About how many steps dQwn? A. About seven or e ght

B

steps down.

b et o s oo




his restaurant on the 12th day of February

A. Yes sir, to get my meals.

HWhat iime did you go there9 A About'eight o'ecloek in‘:

K
il
iy
i

Vv
i

ithe morning.
‘Who aid you see thereeo A. I saw Koenigsberger
ﬁand Langeheine came aft erward.

;What time Qia Koenigsberser come tie ree

Ae When I entered the restaurant he was there al ready.

What did you do from eight o'clock until ten¢?

A DPirst when I came . I got my breqkfast and then I sat

down and was sitting reading waiting for dinner time to get

. my dinner.

Q. . Was Koenigsberger there all the +time? A. Not all the

?time.
Q ‘What time qdid Langeheine come the re? A. About ten or

Tifteen mimites after T entered, Langeheine ente red the res-

taurant.
Dad he stay there all the time that you were tle ree
A. Lancheine remained the whole morning there.

Q. Did you see a man by the name of Morris Golds ith come in?

A. Yes sir.

What time® A. Between nine and ten o'eclock in the

morning.
. And who did he talk to when he came in the re?

A. With Koenigsberger about setting some ranes of

- 8lass in.
fsWhat aid Koensigberger say about panes of glass®?

A. Ille said, "I have Some panes of glass hume, you may

i
i
i

;use them dfor thosec windows. "
it

i He said that to Goldsmith?

R

——

|
|
i




restaurant together, Goldsmith and he

|

oY

Cngd g &
R oA aH

IR Ny

1

Did you hear Koensigberger say where

A. I heard that they went to K
order to see the bPanes of glass and t
Did you hear what Koensigberger sH ao
heard that he said - ———- he spoke ab
he had in his apartmerm where he live

What daia Koensigberger say to the dec

A. They left tie
they were going to?
ocnigsberger's house in
O bring them.

A. Yes sir, I
out panes of glass that
s home.

eased? _ A. He saiq,

"eome with me ana look at them., if you can use them for this

work here."

Q  Did they go out together? A

Q. .

Then‘who came back afterwards fPirst?

“came first_

Q.

How long after was it that Goldsmith

- Yes sir.

A. Goldsmith

came back?

A. About fifteen minutes after they left together

Poldsmitih came back.

i
i
i

i

i
i
i
i
H
g!

i

What & a Goldsmith proceced to do when he came back?

A. I did not see what he broughi

work immediately.

Put himself to work at what?

of glass.

but he put himself to

A. Putting in Panes

In what doore? A. In the front win&ows.

Of the restaurant? A. Yes
Ilow longs was he Ooccupied doing that?

quarters of an hour or an hour.

Was Koensigberger there then?
:ierwards.

‘How much later? A. He came

later thn Goldsmith.

sir, the restaurant.

A. About threc

A. He came later, af-

about twenty minutes

e fak h 677 7

I

1
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Did~Koensigberger say anything tO'Goidsmith then?

A. I did not hear what he said but he was laughing and

i singing.

Y Ccoula you judge from his conditicn whether he was under the

?influence of liguor? A. He was somewhat jolly.

LT RRONAR O

»Did you hear what he szid? A. NO.
;Did Goldsmith come there to Put in the glass that you speak

2

of? A. Yes sir, he finished hisu work.
About what time was that? A. About a quarter past
eleven, anyhow before twelve o'clock.

Then what di d Goldsmith do aTter he got the glass in?

A. Then I heard Koensigberger and Goldsmith were +talk-

;ing together about the péyment of the work.,
TWhat did Koensigberser szy about the payment for the work?
A. I could not give the words.
Tnne substiance then? A. The substance was that
Goldsmith said the money that was lying on the counter is
not sufifieient for the work that he daid.
That is what Goldsmith said? A. Yes sir.
To that wh=at aia Koensigberger say A. Koensigberger
said, it is enough.
Was Dangeheine +tle re then? A . Yes sir.
Where was Langheine standing? A, Tﬁey were in a
group about one pace apart from each other, all tir ece.
;This is the man that you mean Langehe ine? (Pointing. )
A. Yes sir.
iAnd he was about a pace away from Goldsmith?
A. From each other, the three were in a group, they

i Were only a step away from eachh other.

iWhat time was that?, A- As I said, a quarter bPast eleven,

i
it
i
i
i




before twelve o'ecloek it happened.

About a quarter Past eleven o'cloeck? A The

! sion about the money went on.
‘How long was tnat discussion about the money going on?

A Several minutes it lasted, the discussion about tile

Vi

payment.

"When Goldsmith and Koensigberger ana Langeheine was there

"did you hear Langeheine say anythings A. I aid not

‘rear him say anything.
Q ‘Did you hear Koensigberger say anything when they were all

standing together? A. Yes sir, I heard when

Langeheine commenced %o fool with the revolver and with the

knife.
Q- ;Then_what did Koensigberger say? A. Hoensigberger

fwas lagghing and at last I heard him say, Yeut his neck off.v
Qe Who saiad that? A. Koensigberger.
Q. Cut whose neck off? A Goldsmith's neck.
Q. Theﬁ what did Langheine doe A. He was rubbing

the knife against his neck.

the back of

[

The back of the knirfe? s sip,

the knife.
What dad Goldsmith do when Langeheine was drawing the knife?

A. Goldsmith was bending away from Langheine and was

;laughing.

EEWhat was Koensigberger doing? A. Koensigberger

)

was laughing too.

' 2 After that did Langheine take the knife away?

'

A. I did not see what became of the knife.

‘ When next did you see Koensigberger?e As mmaech as I

B
6

e B
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Ywith the knife ceased.

T e i e e

{Did you see him &0 behind the counter or bare A, I cannot!
for sure.
Q- Did you see him behind the bar? . A- Yes sir, I saw him'

fbehind the bar,

S v a TR T N o

Q. fAnd that was after Langeheine had the knife to Goldsmith's

e

"neck? A. Yes sir/ whilst Langheine was Tooling

.

with Goldsmith Koensigberger was behind the bar.

Pid you see Langeheine put the knife away anywhe re?

AU i 1B b

A. No, I did not seec thayg.

- Uia,

Look at this revolver and state whether you saw thét revolver
‘on the bar? A. Yes sir, I saw a revolver on
. the corner where the‘water faucet is.
;And ﬁhen youa saw the revolver on the bar did you see Koens-—
\igberger behind the bar? A Yes-sir, he was. benind
the bar tle:n.
When he was benind the ba? at that time did you hear Koensig-
Berger say anything to Gox smithy ' A. I did not hear.
:Did you near anybody say anything about sixty-~-Pfive cents?
A No, I did not.
Q. Did you hear anybody say anything about any money at alle
- A« A1l T noticed was that he vwas not safisfied with
the money, I can't tell anything_else, I cannot recall a
word. |
Q.f The substance of it¢ ’ A- The substance was that he
?asked for more, that he was not satisfied with that money, e
jﬁanted'more.

Goldsmith aiae A. Yes sir.

Who did he ask it of-, Koensigberger? A

s At

P ay—

berger.

Wi 134




A. He said, that is

Then what did Koensigberger say?

enough.
:Did you see who put the revolver on the bare

did not.

i

§§Did you see who picked up the revolver? A. No sir, I con-

.
iy

??my raper.
j;Did you see that .evolver in anybody's hands®?
A Koensigberger was fooling with the revolver first.
And then whose elsehands did you sec the revolver in?
A. Then Langeheine had it in his hand when he fi red tle

revolver and when the man dropped.

e Jury what he

B& tﬁé Court. Q. Get this witness'to explain to t

3§means when he says, "Koensigberger was fooling with the re-

volverv? A. He held it against Goldsmith and

scared him that way.

Counsel: I ask that the last portion of the answer be stricken

oute.

The Court: Yes strike that out.

By the Court. Q. Tell us what he Adid? A. He held the re-—

'volver, he sa9d, "I will shoot you dead", such remarks he

- made.

" Koensigbergey said that? A. Koensigberger.

' How was he holding the revolver, towards the deceased?
/

¥ A. He held it towards Goldsmith, that waye

By M#?McIntyre. Q. Andwhat did he say? AY "I will shoot

{fyou, I will shoot you dead", something like that he saidq,

i,

f; cannot tell exactly the words.

ByQtHé Court- Q. Was that before or after Liangeheine was acting

i the manner he described with the carving knife?

.
|

H
i

;i sidered the whole thing a stupid matter and I went on reading




A. It happened be fore Laﬁgeheine got the revolver.

I asked you was it before or after Langeheine was doing what

-;-_he said he was doing with the carving knife?
- A. It was before the knife was taken, before they fool—§
éed with the kni e Koensigberger was fooling with the revolver
By Mrf-éMcIn'byre, Q- After you saw the revolver lying on the counter |
| ;did you then sce the revolver in the hands of Langeheine.
» A. Yes sir, I saw it alterward in Langheine's hands.
Q- ‘When it was in Langeheine's hands wvhat did you hezr Koensig;
berger say, it anything¢ A Ile said. we will
ishoot him deaad ——=--~ shoot him dead in fooling.
Qe iThen what dia Langheine do with this revolver, if anything?
‘ Objected +to. Objection overruled. Exception.
A. Whilst Koensigberger was saying it then Langehe ine
was also fooling with thatrevolver.
What was he doing? A. He said, "take the money or
I will kiil you", flourishing the revolver against him;
. Where did he poini it? A. Near the head. '
Then what? A« I was in the meantime looking
at my raper again, then I heard a crack and I looked to the
place, I lookecd towards him ard then I saw a shot and I saw
him Tall and I saw smoke and he fell.

You heard a shot, you saw smoke and whom did you see fall?

33
I

f A. Goldsmith.

fWhen you say that you saw that revolver Pointed at some body

fwhom do yo#¥ mean? A. Goldsmith, the glacier.

N

Then he fell? A. After the discharge he fell.

e P S

'Deadn, A. Yes sir, and he was dead.

]
N
b

notice where he was shote A. I only saw the

eye and blood was running down on the floar.




When Goldsmith was shot and lying dead on the floor did you

‘see Koenigsberger say anything? A. He said, "my Goad

: he is deaaqd.v

§§Was Langeheine there? - : A. When Koenigsberger said
‘"my God, he is dead', Langeheine was there yet, but afterward
?;he went upstairs and went awéy; he left the restaurant and
:jwent up ﬁhe stairs and went away.

Q. Ran away?
Objected to.
A. I did not notice if he ran.
He went away? A. He went ocutside in the street, he-
went up the steps and went in the street.

:How long did you stay there after that? A. About

three or four minates, until the rolice came; from the time

he fell until the police éame about three or four minutes

‘elapsed.

Qe Where was Koenigsberger all the while? A. HMe was
standing in the ecenter of the saloon all the time and he was
Pulling his ears and said "O my God. what is coming to rass
here. v

Qe Were you therc when tie police came®? A. Yes sir.

Q- Did they take Koenigsberger to the Station House?

A. Yes sir,

Q.géDid you go to the Station House?

| went along with them.

Q.f_What aid Koenigsberger say in the Station House?

A. He said it is coming from foeling, from stupiad
acting, now we have that from that fooling, ne said.

Was Lange::eine in the stétion house at that time?

A He was brought later on.




Were youipresent when Lanegehne and Koenigsberger were talk-

N e 1 Tt st e e st

ing together about the shooting in the Station House?

A. Yes sir, I was there,

i,
Q. - What did Koenigsberger say to Langeheine®?

A. He said "this comes from the fooling andfrom the

fjoking, now we have to wait and see what will happen", Koen-—

figsberger said thate.
Is that alle A. As soon as the man fell Koenigs-—
berger's wife came in, she commenced to lament and to halloo;

she said, "what have you done to both of them, for God's sake

“what have you done herey "
By Counsel. Q. What do you mean by both of them?
; A And then they waite d till the pPolice came, she waitead
.Tthere till the police came.
By Mr.McIntyre. Q. Dia Koenigsberger say anything to his wife?
A. He was crying and was Pulling his hair, he was des-—
Perate and he was shivering all over.

Qe Did he say anything about where the revolver came Ty m®?

A. No, I did not hear anythinge.

CROSS EXAMINED.

By COdnsél.ZQ. This is the Tirst time you ew r said ~---- you diad
not say before the Corqner'sjury or you did not say last week
iin the trial of Langelue ine that Koenigsberger had a revolver
:in his hand, did you? . A. No, I say it now, I
‘did not think of it.

"You did not think of it then, is that it ---- put that to

v

‘thr witness, let him understand my question.
o

A. I did not say anything about it.

Why didn't you? A. Because I did not think of it

\§~£bqn\N}t came to my mind later on.

'




—ERIIIIT

Then you meanto tell this Jury that your recolleetion of what.:

better to~-day than

‘ took Place on the day of this kigdling is

P

it was at the time that you saw ite A. The day when

myself very excited because I

I was before the Coroner I was

;never wvas before g Court, it was tlp rst time I had any-

thing to do before a court.

Is that the best answer you can give to my question?®

A. Yes sir, be g excited everything didn't come to my

mind.

Rere you excited last woek when you were in that same seat?
A. No, I do not think that I was excited.
~

WVhy did not you tell us then that this man Koens‘sgsbe:-gcr haa

ithe revolver Pointing it up at the body of the dead man?

A. Then I was answvering quest ions, whateve:r I wvas

qQuestioned I gave an answer to it.

Do you tell us to-day thai Koenigsberger, this defendant,
held the revolver ag=zinst the body of th deccased at any
time that day and that Yu saw it?9 Yes si:s», he

fooling and scaring tkl® man.

With the pistol? A. Yes sir, with the Pistol in

his hand.
gave before tle Coro-

Do you remember the destimony that you

ner? A. Yes sir, I dia Nnot say before tle
5Coroner that Koenigsberger was fooling with the revolver.

“How do you know You di d not say that? A. Because

“several times it was said to me that I did not say it that

way.
Qe ffWhere was it said to you, who told you that you never said

" that before the Coroner's jurys




Q..'.

Q-

it came to my mind later one.
testimony then was read to you that you save ét the Cor-
foner's Jury, waén't it? A. Yes. '
QDid ﬁot you understand tne questions that were put to you
fbefore the Coroner's jury? A. Yes sir, those put to
?mé in German I understood.
?And did not you know the answers that yoﬁ gavé?
A. Yes sir. I knew.
You wers examined before the Coroncr's Jury about the week
or within the week after the killing, were you not?
A. Yes sir.
Let us see if this question was rut to you, if you recollect
;your memory 1is pretty good as to what you sware to before +tle
iCoroner’s Jury: "Q;Did you see Koenigsberger do anything
iwith the pistol"? Do you remember that question being put
~to you? A. Yes sir.
Your answer is, Y"A. I did not." Do you remember that
answer? A. Later on it came to my mind.
Please answer my question? A. He says, ®yes, he
gave that onswer.
You gave that answer before the Coroner's jury®?
"A. Yes sir.
You knew what you were saying at the time, & dn't you?
A. Yes sir, in that execitement I was in anc xcited
condition and I could not say what I saw.
{FThen do you mean to tell the Court and Jury to-day that be-~
'fbre the Coroner you were so excited that you do not remem-
g?ber what you were telling¢? ) A. I was very nmch
affected that day myself and I could not give proper answers

'to the questions.

i
i
i




And that is your reasoning, is it? A. Yes sir,

“so and later on it came to my mind.

iBut you told me a few moments ago that you remembered very
iWell that you said nothing about that before the Coroner's
:jury, didn't you? A. I admit that I did not say
ithat.

iHow is it that you can remember then that you did not say it

if yéu were so excited on that day that yoa do not know what

L g e e

you were saying? A. Because I saw him before

ez

“that with the Pistol and later on it recurred to my mind and

{ ki piid

so I say it.
;:Sée if this question was then put to you hefore the Coroner's
“ury: Qe Your first attention was drawn to the pistol wie n
ﬁyéu saw it on the top of the bar? A.Yes sir, that was tle
first time I noticed the revolver." Bo you remember swe ar-—
ing to that before the Coroner»'s jury? A. Yes sir. ‘
That is true, is i+t? A. Yes sir.
Then the first you noticed of the revolver you saw it lying
on the bar? A. That was in consequence of
the gquestion that was nut to mefhow c ame the revolver into
Langeﬁeine’s hands?" And i said that I saw it before on tle
counter and later on I saw it in Langgheine's Thands; that
is the way how the questions and t¥re answers came.
GWhy did not-you tell the Coroner'sjury and the Coroner thsa
-you saw tre revolver in Koenigsberger's hands?

A. Because it did not occur to my mind.

"Isn't it a fact that you told the Coroner’'s jury that the

s very moment before Langeheine had the revolver in his hand

i

;:that Koenigsberger was slapping the dead man on the back®

A. Yes sir, he was fooling and made the remark, "did




you see the ‘butter fish' from the Bowerys "

;

Q-.§Was Koenigsberger slapping this man on the back?
f '

A. Yes sir, whilst GoldsmiEth was working, putti ng

:iin the panes of glass.
Q.thight before Langeheine got the revolver isn't it = fact thati
E;Koenigsberger Was-slapping the man on the back?
: A Yes sir, he made some remarks and wWas joking with
. the man.
Koenigsberger was not then behindthe bar, was he®
A. Then he was before the bar, in Tront of the bar.
"Let me see if you understood this question'that was put to
 you before the Coroner: Q. I will be the dead glazier (that
;was Counsel), you are Koenigsberger, show me and show the
ﬁJury hovaoenigsberger Placed his hands in fooling upon the:
deceased Mr Goldsmith*. Ask him if he remembers that
question being put to him¢ A. Yes sir, thét
is the‘question.
You remember that? A. Yes sir.
Do you remember the answer that you gave?
recoldlect the answer +that I gave.
"See if this the answer; YA. He took hiim this way, slapping
“him on the back and saying? sixty-five cents is enough, go
alongty A. Yes sir; he said so.
iYou'remember that? A. Yes, he said that is enough.
 Ask him if he remembers this gquestion being put to him;
f"Q» After you noticed the revolver on the counter did you seec
EKoenigsberger hand the revolver over the bar to Langeheine?
! A. No sir.v® A. Yes sir.
ﬁYou remémber you said that before the Coroner?

A. Yes sir, I think that I said so.

2
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That was true, wasn't it®? A. Yes sir.

Do you remember this question; "Q. Did you see Langeneine
{ .

;ztake the revolwver from the bar? A. No sir.

A. Yes, I remember that question.
Q- Isn't it z faet that you remember everything you testified to

5;beforeAthe Coroner? A. Not everything, not

2ll, it is nearly a year.

Q. When was it you first told anybody about this man Koenigs-

- berger having a pistol in his ‘hand that day?
A. That was hehe on the first trial.

swore tuat

Q. Do you tell the Court and Jury that last week you

this man Koenigsberger held the Pistol in his hand against

., the body of the dead man? A. Yes sir, I said that

;éhe had it and that he fooled with it.

Qe 'Did not you say a little while ago that the reason you did
~not say it was because the question was not rPut to you?

A. I said it without being questioned about it and

also about the cartridse I spoke on the last trial and before

Pl

that I did not say anything about the cartridge, the last

trial I talked about the cartridge.
Qe  How long have yoeu been in the HMHouse of Detention?

A. Two months.

Q. Did you visit the District Attorney's office before you went

IR

;ito the House of Detention®? " A. Yes sir, Mr.kecInty e.

Q. . How many times wasthe evidence that y:u gave before tie Cor-
oner's jury read over to you? A. Once it Was
“read to me.

Q. iWas Mr.McIntyre, the #H rst gentleman you ever told that

?Koenigsberger had the pistol in his hande

A. I was before Mr.Davis before I saw Mr.McIntyre,0h44L_

o SRS




§I told Mr.Davis all the circumstances; then I was in a big

hall » there was about twenty-five gentlemen together ( he

means the @Grand Jury room).

-~
" You were reading a newspaper in this'saloon the day of tie
gékilling, wvearen't you? A. Yes sir.
i

And you did not Pay mach attention to what was soing on?®

i
b
i

E
i

A. I was looking toward them from time to time, at

H

g:times I was looking at the window and then I went to the wa-

;ter—closet and then I read the paper and so it went on all

WILLIAM LANGEHEINE, sworn andexamined.
:McIntyre. Q- What was your business before tle 12th day of
flast February? A. Waiter.
iFor whom®? } A. For Mr.Gervitz.
. On Third Aveniuie near 17th Streeto i A. Yes sir.
;And did you ever work Tor this defendant Koenigsberge r?

A. Yes sir.

iWhen did you work for himé A. In October,l1891l.
“In 1890 you mean? A. Yes sir, 1890.
 On tre morning of the 12th of February were you in Koenigs-
,berger's rlace? » A. Yes sir.
ﬁWhat time did you go the re that morning?
i '

quarter to eleven.

§

ﬁDid you go there to eat? A. No, I only went in to
i

ifvisit.

I

]

ivo see Koensigberger? A. Yes sir.

|
|

smith, a glazier? ‘ ' ; A.

|
f
|

When you got in there did you see a man by the name of Gold- !
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Did you see him putting in glass?

<Was Koenigsberger thiere then¢? A.
Where was he? A. He was outside.
In the street? A. Ygs s;r.
Had you and Koenigsberper becn drinking that day®
A.>I had been drinking, yes sir.
Were you drinking very‘much? A. Six or seven glasses
of beer.
Do you know whether you were under tne influence of liguor?
A. No sir, not verj mach.
Was Koensigberger under the influence ofi 1iquor?
A. He looked like as if he had been drinking.
That was about a quarter to eleven o'clocky ’ Ae. Yes sir.
Did you see Goidsmith putting in glass? A. Yes sir.
Did you hear anything said about the Price for putti ng in

glass? A. No, Koenigsberger was not there at itk

time.
When didKoenigs bgrger come in? Ae About half past
eleven -

What did Kocnigsberger say about Goldsmith? A. Nothing

at all. -
Did you say anything to him? A. No, Goldsmith was
working that time a2t the windows.

After he got through working did you all have a talk with

Goldemith? Se I had no talk with Goldsmith.

Ay

Dia Koenigéberger?- A. It was twehty minutes to

;ftwelve, then ne was through with the windows and so he asked

i Tor his money.

Q- 1 Of Koenigsbergeor? A. Yes sir, Goldsmith did; then,

i

{oenigsbergerbput sixty-five cents on the bar and kept some

Z




jmoney in his Hand. So then he came from behind the barp Jok-

fflng together and fooling, ~they were fooling together.
’What do you mean by fooling together?. ’ A? Joking to-
;;gether.

Qe fWhat did they say, I want to get what they said?
’ A. Koenigsberger said, “now I Sive you olad glass and

ftreat you a couple of times, do you think that is not money

1enough?"
Qe That is what Koensigberger said?
Qe “What did Goldsmith say to Koenigsberger?
As So they were Joking about that -
iTell me what Goldsmith said®? A. Goldsmith did not
fsay anything about thate.
‘3Did he Yake the sixty~five cents? A. No, that was
 1ying on +the bar.
Was Koenigsberger outside the bar +} 2 A. Yes, he was
outside.

Qe After that did he g9 :behind the bare A. It was later

thene.
Q. State all that occurred before he went behind the bare

A. Then Koenigsberger saidad to me, "what do you think
about that Goldsmith, he wont take any money; so the knife
- was lying on the table.
Q.::This knife<? A Ye lying on the third table in
the saloon and I made a2 joke with that knife.
Q- You took the knife? A. Yes sir, with the wrong
h51de and held it to Goldsmith's shoulder. I said, "why

Tdon't you want to take the money?v I was laughing and

l .
‘Boldsmlth was laughipg too; I placed the knife on the same

!

{

[table that it
|

!
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Epipeiahd I looked at the paper and Koenigsberger went ihto
jthe kitehen and then about Ffour minates after Koenigsberger
came out of the kitchen and wenz behindthe bar and then com-
Emenced joking again.

 State what Koenigsberger said to the deceased?

A. He went behind the bar and commenced Jjoking; then I
;said, "well, don't you think that is enowgh and then he
showed the pistol.

Look at this pistol and state whether it was the one he
showed? . A I think so , I ecan't tell.

A pistol resembling that? : A. Yes sivr, it resembled it

he said the pistol was not loaded.
Was this pistol handed to you? A. Yes sir.
Who handed it to you? A. Koenigsberger.

What did he tell you to do with the pistol-when he nanded it

to you?
Objected to.
Did he say anything? A. Koenigsberger got

laughing ana Joking about that; he saiq the pistol was not

iloaded.

'He said that to you? A. YWes sir.
What else ddd he say? . A. He said, "shoot that

man', laughing; then I had the pistol andi it sSnapped once
and there was this report.

;{It snapped once? A. Yes sir.

| If I understood you right, he handed.you the pistol and
;iyou to shoot that man, is that what, you said?

;? A. Yes sir, in joking. .

gIs that what he said? _ A. Yes sir.

What did he say about the Pistol being loaded?

;9
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A. Koenigsberger said it was not loaded.

iWhen he told you it was not loaded you took the pPistol and
B

ﬁpointcd it where? A. I pointed it at Goldsmith.

Diga you snap the trigger? A. Once, yes sir.

Then did the pistol go off? A. No, not right awayf
Did you Sﬁap the trigger then®° A. Yes sir.

Then did it go off? . Then it went off.
Goldsmith fell dead? s sir, Goldsmith fell
dead.

Do you remember where you shot him®? ' A. Yes sir,

right here. (Pointing to the forehead, over the left eye. )
After he was shot where did you gé? A. I looked

at Goldsmith and was sorry Tfor him, so I walked out and was

&
v
i
¢
H
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jgoing to Police Headquarters in Mulberry Street.
: Were not you arrested by the p;liceman on the way?

A. There was one witness, he followed me, I was just
crossing the Bowery énd he went benind me and told the po-
liceman.

Then the policeman took you to the sStation Housee
A. Yes sir.
,.What did you do with the pistol af£er vyou shot Goldsmith?
A. It fell ouf of my hand, I was so excited it dropped

on the floor.

"In a pile of sawdust? A. No, right on tke floor
»before the bar.e.

ngid you see anybody pick up tle pistol? A. No.

"When you took this pistol. from Koenigsberger's hamls you

did not lookinto the barrel or into the chambe rs to see

whether it was loaded? o A. No sir, I believed

AR RTDIrRNY

Koenigsberger, I thoucht sure it was not loaded.
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.'You thought sare it was not loaded®?
Objected to. Objection sustained.
ﬁYou thouglt sure it was not loaded because Koenigsberger had

i told you it was not loaded? A. No sir.

‘Had you ever seen this pistol with Koenigsberger beforeo

B
)
i

i
!
i
i

1;i‘ A. No sir.

'Q.} Did not you see it that days : A. No sir, not befa e
F?he showed it to ne.

By thé Court. Q. Just show tle jury where was he standing when
f;got this pistel from himg what part of ithe saloon was he
?;Koenigsbezger, explainto the jury the size of the saloon
%%how it is fixed up, how large is thatsaloon occupiecd for
:frestuérant? . A. About eight +tables in it.

Q.EEWhat rart of the house was it in, what Tloor?
A. It was a basement.
Q. T About how many steps down? A. About five sters
;'down.
‘,Besides the saloon what other apartments were in the base-—
'?ment? A. There was a kitchen in the baék.

"And a saloon in Tront? A. Yes sir.

How was that saloon furnished, did it have a counterse
A. Yes sir, it had a countcr and eight tables.
;;Wasnitna.réstauranthzwa.saloon? ‘ A. A restuarant.
iéWhere was this glazier putting the window injy what part of thk

?g saloon was he rutting the window in? ' A. It was

N

H

éjthe right hand side window.

§Was it the window leading to the street? A. Yes sir,

leading to the street.

i
{
i
.
{‘When you came in first, as I understand you, the glazier was
: .

]

at work? i at worke.




Koenigsberger was outside ofi.the saloon% A Yes sir.

Q-

Q- Sometime after that he came in? A. Yes sir, half

;
{
i
;
!
H
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%past eleven.
Qe iThen there was talk about money wit him and this glazier?
A. Yes sir.
Q.? Where did you get this cérving knife? A. It was 1ly-
iﬁg on the third table in the saloon.
You picked that up? A. Yes sir.
ATter you got through with that knife wheat did you do with_
it? A. I placed it bn the table.
Where was Koenigsberger alllthis time? . A. He was
still standing by me.
iEWere &ou both outside the bare A. Yes sir.
ééWhat did Koenigsberger do after that? A. He went
into tne kitchen, Goldsmith 1it his pipe and I looked at the
raprer.
‘He went into the kitchen% A. Yes sir.
How long was hne sone? A About four minutes,
came out and went behind the bar.
:What was said then by anyone? A. Koenigsberger and
;Goldsmith Wwere commencing to joke about this money.
" What was the next thing alfter that? A Koemigsbér—
 ger showed. the Pistol joking.
fJust show the jury how he showed his pistol?

A. He said to that man, “it is not loaded", in a joke;

/

gwe were laughing too and then he handed the pistol to me.
iWho did he say that to? A- He said that to me.
iWhat did he say again? A. He said it was not loaded.
g%hat elsee 4. He said, vYshoot that man", and we were
? lfggying too-
,<T~-ﬂi._:"V;ff-—-~\\$\




Then what did he do? A. He

and so I snapped once.

i e e b o b e, ot

Where was he standing at that t ime,

A. Behind the bar,

. You were outside the counter<?

i bar.

‘How far was Goldsmith away?

‘there (showing).

bWas he walking then or standi ng up?

smoking his pipe.-

:You took the vwistol? A

'Go on and tell us what you didv

1%
i
i

The first time was there any explosion?

it

Q.

Q. How many times did you snap it?

Just pull that trigger the way you did it9.

did so). Is that the way it sounded

A. Yes sir,

handed me the pistol

behind the counter?

A. Yes sir, before the:

A-. About from here to

A No, he was

Yes sir.

A. I snapped it

A NO.
A. Two times.
(The witness

the first time?

Snap it the second time? (The witness did so )

Then there was an explosion after the
‘hammer, is that it? A

By the Foreman.

is it double action? A. I had it so,

?%(showing-)
By the Court. Q. Was that the way that you us

A. Yes sir.

second hitting of tle

Yes sir.

Q.- Did you pull the harmmer off that revolver up or

this way.

ed it?

: After the shot did you say anything to the defendant

;;the man fell? A. He said,
fﬁpistol was not loadedq; See what happe

{What daid he say after that®

-

"Ynow you saiad
ned now.?v

A. "My God,I thougnt

~
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?sufe the pistol loaded, -now thére was one shot

Anything else? A. No, then I went out.

i
i

el: I don't want to ask him a gquestion.
1 - .
H
¥

Wednesday, Jarmary 20, 1892.

v A QA

PHILIP E. DONLIN. sworn.
We admit that the deceased was killed at the place and
the time and by the Pistol in the hands of Langeheine as
fstated in the indictment. I merely mention that with a
;view to simplify this evidence and that the bullet
;Wound was the cause of death.

The Céurt: Such azdmission as is satisfactory to the District At-

; torney will be satisfactory to the Court. You had betier

get the admission on the record.

:i
i .
Mr.Mciptyre: I do not want Dr. Donlin.

GEORGE ISSING, sworn and examined.

By Mr{ﬂcIntyre. Q. Officer, what Precinet are you connected with?
| A The fourteenth.
Q- fbn February 12th of last year did you go to 188 Houston St.
A. Yes sir.
'Io whose place? ’ A. Charles Koenigsberger.

;What.time of day? A. 11.55 A.M.

ffDid you sec .the body of a dead man on the floor when you

il went tie re? A. I aid.

i Do you know whose body it was? ‘A. I did not know

(A

4fat the presentntime.

Q. éYou saw a body lying there? AL Yes sir.

ﬁtyre: Will it be conceded that that was the body of the




: deceased mentioned in the ihdictment-

Mr.Howe: Yes sir.
I

The Court:

-

Counsel concededs that the body that the officer saw
ithere was the body of the deceased named in the indictment.
By MrchIntyre. Q- Did you see the defenddant at the bar tle re?

i A. I seen him in the place tl= re.
Q. Dia you speak with him? A. I dia.
Q. Will you s+tate what you said to him and what he said to you?

A. I asked him how the man was shot and he told me he

shot himself.

Q+  Where was the body taken to alterwsds. if you know?

A. It was taken to the Station House.

Q- What precinct? A. Fourteenth precincte.

Qe ?And then did you go to the Station House with Koenigsbe rgery
. A. Yes sir, Officer James and I.

Q- When you got to the Station House did you see Langeheine?

A. Yes sir.

Was he there? A. He was brought there afterwards.

In your presence and at the Station House did Koenigsberger

have a conversation with Langehe ine? A. Yes sir.

Will you state what he said? A. That I understood

him to say was

By Mr-Howe. Q. Was it in German or Englishe? A. In German.

By MriﬁcIntyre. Q. You understand German, Officere A Yes sir,

ByGthve- Court. Q. You are a German? A. Yes sir.

Q. As ncar as

yoa can recollect the conversation what was said

by one man to the other? A. I heard Lange-

% heine say

to him that this K enigsberger tdld him to shoot

i him?

A. To Koenigsberger, Koenigs-

i
i
) Who did he say that to?
i

i berger saidq, "what did you want to shoot him for."

3
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'Mn,EcIntvre.,Q. Did I understand you to say that Koenigsberger

t .
i said, "what did you want to shoot him forv? addressing

Langeheine? A. Yes sir.

iz

it

iy

H
{
3
¢

" Langeheine said in response to that what?

.. understand.

éfWas anything said by Koenigsberger there about scaring him

?iand if so willyou state what it wasv A. Yes sip, he
says, "Koenigsberger said to only scare him.

State what Koenigsberger said? A. Koenisgberger
:told Lengeheine that he only told him-to £go hoeme.

What did Langheine say to that? AL I.angseheine
‘“you told me to shoot him.?v

- In the presence of this defendant did Langeheine say any-—

i thing about where he pointed the pistol? A. Yes siw.

JWhnat did he say¥ A. He says he had pulled the

™~

tr.zger threc times-
At wﬁA: places? A. First in the abdomen and
‘mouth and the last time in the eye.

Mr.Howe:" HNot a question.

GEORGE ANDREWS, sworn and cxamined.
By Mr.McIntyre. Q. What is yéur business? A. Undertaking
;ébusi ness.
iWhere is vour Place of business? A. 52%7 Last 1ll1lth
‘ Street .
On the 12th oi February last did you seec the body of Morris
Goldsmith and if so, where? A. I seen him in tre
Station House.

Where did you take that body to? A. No.282 East

Houston Street.




R

- r—)

Did you there prepare it for burial? A. Yes sir, we

:put'him on ice.

;And the next day did you prepare his body for burial?

ﬁ A. No, I believe he was buried on the 15th.

you on the 15th prepare his body for burial?

A. No sir, I was not there at the time.
Mr.Hoﬁe: No questions.

I

L
B oo’ _,.‘:«'“}"!:"

ABRAHAM GOLDSMITH,' sworn and examined.
Mr.McIntyre. Q. Where do you live9 A. 1949 Second
‘Avenue.

Q.ffWhere did you live on the 12th of February?

i A. No.282 East Houston Street.

Q.:'Was that the residence of your father in his lifetime?
A. Yes sir.
How old a man was your father in his lifetime?
A. Fifty years.
What was his business®? - A. Glazier.
Dia you.see the body of your father after the killing?
A. Yes sir.
'Whereo A. At the house.
Did you attend your father's funeral® A. Yes sir,
 Where was he buried? A A. Bayside Cemetery.
;jHow many children are there beside yYyourself?

A. Six.

Mr.Moﬁs: No questions.

27




The Case for the Defence.

[¢]

: I move that your Honor now advise the Jury that upon this;

TR S - 00

evidence they should hot conviect the defendant of man-
gélaughter in the second degree whiech I understand is what

the District Attorney claims.

Mr.Mcﬁhtyre: I shall go to the Jury on manslaughter in tkhe second
1

idegree-
The Court: I will deny tre motion, Mr.Howe.

Mr.Howé: Will your Honor give me the benefit of an excepition.

VALENTINE HETZEL, sworn and examined.

By Mr.Howe. Q. Where do you live? A. No.58 PFirst Avenue.

Qe ?nd yYyour business is what? A. I used to be a con-—
%%ectioner, the same trade as this man.

Q- zé this man, the defendant. A Yes sir.

'Q- ;How long have you known the prisoner? A Since he came

to this country.

Q. vHow many years is thate? A. About ten years to my
knowlédge.
~You know his qharactcr for honesty and peace and quietness,
:and general good conduct? A. Yes sirvr,

Is it good or bad? A. I never seen anything

. wrong aboat him, I alwvays seen him quiet.

Q- ﬁHe is 2 man of good character? A. O good character.

Mr-McIntyre. Q. Do you belong to any organizations with him?

e T

A. No sir..

-
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MAX HIRTREITER, sworn and examined.

:Howe. Q.- Where do you live? A. No.322 BEast 9th Stk

iWhat is your businesss A. The business of confect-

ioner.

. Do you know the prisoner? A. Yes sir.
i
ﬁHow many years have you known him¢? A. About ten yean's

"Is he a man of good character? A. Yes, he worked in
Ethe same place for ten years.

[For ten years with you? A. Yes sir.

 Is he a gquiet and pecaceable man? A. O yes, a very nice

"man.

By Mr;McIntyre. Q. What organization did you say you belonged to

By

Q-

with him? A. He was workman in the same place

I worked.

lDo you belongs to any organization that he does? A-.No, he
only worked at the same Place where I work. he did not belong

to amyassociation.

DORA KOENIGSBERGER, sworn and examined.

Mr.Howe. Q. This is your husband? A. Yes sir.

Q.-

How many years have you been married to him®?
A. Three years.
Have you children? A. Not here.
f;You have two c¢hildren by him, he is the Tather of two

ééhild:en of yours? ' _A. Yes sir.

;;Do You know how this pistol got in your house? (To the
H]

i .

iterpreter) Specak German to her, ask her if she had a

] : :
Foarder who went away? : A. A customer brought this

Pistol for a week's board, two or three ﬁeeks board, I do
: 29 . L - ) .




"know.

Qe )You had a2 boarder thereé A. Yes sir.

Q- {[And he left it for the board, is not that it

: A Yes sir. ,
1 i

By MrchIntyfe- Q- Dia you_knbw a man of the name of Gustav Edwards{

A. I do not knowe.

Q- :Do. you remember the day of the shooting? cA. Yes sir.

Q- fAbout ten o'clock on the morning of that day den't you re-

fmember someone telling your husband to look out for that re-—

“volver, that it was loaded? A. I do not remember.

By the Court. Q. How long before the day of the shooting was it
Sthat this boarder left the pistol thereo A. I cannot

itell exactly, three or four days or one week.
Q- {Was it within a week? A. I cannot tell, I did not

“pay attention to it.

Q- Who aid he leave it with; did he leave it with her or with
her husband? _ ’ A. With my husband, I had
nothing to do with it, I have nething to do with the business,
'How many times did she see that pistol from the time it was

left there until the day of the shooting? A. I 4did not
:See it at 211, I supposed that the Pistel was under the
.eounter, I always attended to my kitchen andnever interferred
Q.; Does she kﬁow the name of the boarder who left it there?

A. I do not know the name.

CHARLES KOENIGSBERGER, sworn and examined by Mr.

s"'Howe, through the Interpreter.

i
3

What_is your business, Koenigsberger? CA. X am a con-

fecticner by trade.




You tell the Jury in your own way slowly all that happened on

~

the day this man was shot?

i
i
¥

A. In the morning I wasin my restaurant and there were

%some ranes of glass broken; this man has been three or four
ﬁtimes in the place and asked if there is any panes of Slass

;ito be set; then he came down and asked me again; then I
| teld him, %well, I have some glass standing home that I do
inot use”, if he could use it for +ihat purpose he shall come
 with me and see; I knew the man from before; then I went
lwith him to my home where I live. We went andhe took the
 panes of glass; then he finished the work and rut the glass
iin. In the meantime I had several errands to do and I 4did
 them and then came back; wnen I came back he was about put-
iting in the glass, I was busy aﬁd I went into the kitchen
gattending to my restaurant, and he was woirking at the win-
 dows. We did not make the pPrice beforehand, and when the
:job was Tfinished he said, $I.05 he wantu foer it. I tapped
him o the shoulder and said, "well, sixty-five cents is
enough, I mave you -he slass to do the job.w He said, "no.v
‘I did not have ény more words with him when he said no;
V'Langeheine was present then. At the last table there
is always 1y ing the bread and the board on which we cut the

bread and the knife to cut the breaq . Langeneine went'

. there and aid fool with that man; when Langeheine finished

i fooling with the man he (Langeheine) put the knife back on
" the same table where he took it and that kpife was never

rused for anything but to cut bread. Then I was behind

1

ithe bar and Langeheine came to the bar and Sheurman, I could

i

L not tell i’ Sheurman was at the bar, I think the waiter was

jat the bar. . We were talking about different things and I

T

3
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furnished you the sglass. " We were joking. I did notknow

H
i
i
H
P
i

&ﬁhat the revolves was loaded; the revolver I got from é
;éustomera few days before, he gave the revolver to me with
ithe remark that it is not loaded, and I did not know that
?there was one cartridge in it else I would not have rut that
%revolver on the éounter. Then it happened that I had tﬁ
?revolvér in my hand and I sald, "this revolver is not loaded. "
Langehieine was standing there and he took it, I Aid not seec
‘any more; Langeheince was working with the Pistol and then
?all at once a shot came out and the man Tfell and when I saw
{that the man fell I got very much scared, I was nearly fall-
%ing down mysel¥; then I said, Yfor God's sake wnat happened
inow?ﬁ Then I saw that the man is dead; directly I wenyg up

fto thé police and notified the pPolice of it and gave nyseldf

:up, that is all.

CROSS EXAMINED.
By Mr-McIntyre. Q- You had been drinking on the morning Febru-
ary 129 A. Yes sir, I had a couwple of glasses of
beer.
Were not you somewhat under the inflwence qf liquor?e
A. Not intoxicated -
Were you feeling jolly? A. Yes sir, I alwqgs was
in good humor.
;EWere notyou feeling jJolly from the effects of the ligquor
that you drank? A. No, I could not tell.
§§Were yYyou perfeectly sober? A. I wgs sober although I

had a couple of glasses of beer I was not intoxicated.

said, "J will give him sixty~five cents and that is enough, I ;

{
4
1




A. I cannot stand mich drinking.

fHow many glassés.of beer can you stand without féeling the
A. About five glasses; at five glasses I

have tc stop, I cannot drink more.

Q.? How many glasses did yYyou have before eleven o'clock on the

Al

3glasses of beer._

?morning bvaebruary 122 A. About two or thrée
Qe ' Did not you have Tive befere this man was shot?
A. NO.
Qe " Where did you get the beer Trom thzt vyou drank?
A Outside in the saloon.
Q. 'How many +times did you go into that outside saloon<e
; A. I went to the grocer, to the butcher and to the egs
:store because every morning I order my things myself in rer-
fson.
Q-: You did not get beer in the egg store? A. No sir.
Q-  Did you nave a glass of beer with the man you bought your
eggs from? A. Alone I had = glass of beer.
And that was all beforé this man was shot? A.Yes sir.
Was iLangeheine under ihe influence of liquOQ?
A. e felt well, when I came in Skheurman and Lenge-~
;heine they had a pSnt of beer together,

" Langeheine was feeling pretty well, wasn't he, from the ef-

;§fects of liquor? ’ " A. Yes sir, he felt well.

| A little drunk? A I could not tell, I could not

:say, I did not know it.
';Wés he feeling well from the effleets of liquor?
A. I cannet tell that, I do not know.

iWhat do you mean when you say he felt well?

A. O, he was in good humor.

T et e e s s i,
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Did you see him drink ligquor? i A. Only in my place I

isaw him have a p&nt of becr.
%Did he tell you that he had been drinking liquor anywhe re

No, he did not tell me anything.

ﬁDid you think it safe to put the revolver in the hands of a

iman who was feeling pretty well from 1ligquor?

Objected to. Question withdrawn.

fYou knew Gustav Edwards, didn't you? I do not

“know, a man worked for me, if that was iis do not kno-=
jHow long did that man work for you whose name you do not know
A. He was there a week and a half, he was tke re at the

‘time when it happened, yes, he was working for me still.

Q. :You do not know his name? A-_NO.

Q.f.Do you remember that man whose name you did not know at that

itime saying this to you in the morning before the shooting
foccurred respecting the pistol, "be careful, it may be loaded>
do you remember his saying that to youy
A. I do not know anything about it.

Q. Did not yocu say a moment ago to the Interpreter, yes?
Interﬁreter: No sir, he said it came so, he wanted to explain.
Q-v You said to the Interpreter, "it came about in this way%, in

German? A. Yes sir.

Q-_ What do you mean by that? fi. I do not recollect what

:i was about to say.

i+ I ask that question again, "you do not recollect what you

were about to say, I want you to staie what you meant to say

iwhen you told the Interpreter that it came aboat in this way?

A. I cannot tell, I do not know.

Donwou remember that man w:iose name you do not know telling’

you between ten and eleven o'clock that that revolver was

SN
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lloadeas - A. I have no idea about it.
Why’is it you ecan't remember whether he told yoik such a thing

as that? . A. I do not know, I do not know any thing

Eabout it.

Waé it because vou can't remember what occarred that day or

is it because you were too Ffull of iiquor?

A. No, this man did not sSpeak thatway to me.

This revolver was left in your place by a custgomer you
EState? ) A Yes siv.
.?our or five.days befTore? A. I could not tell ex-—
‘ectly, maybe a day rmore or a day less.

How much did he owe you? A. I have the ticle ts, it was

i?nearly six dollars for two weeks.

‘ \
o
11

i;Don't customers in your place have to pPay for the tickets
ifadvahce'that you give for meals? A. Yes sir; this
‘man he takes meagls in my place and always paid for his
ticket; then for a week or two he was short of money and he
:said, "you keep that revolver for 2 week or two and then I
?will ray youf‘ he told me on Saturday, then he di d not come
any more.
 When he gave you this revolver did you examine thaichambers?
A. No, I did not, he told me. "it is not loaded."

‘Dia you look in these chambers to see¢ whether there were

cartridges tle re? A. Superficially I looked in.

ii

“When you handed this revolw r to Langeheine and told him +to

‘
H
P
i
{
{

|
i
ishoot the deceased did you superficially look in. these
)
i

chambers to seec whepher therec were cartridges'in them?

A. I did not see anything; if I had the lecast idea —-—

1
.
the WitneSS gave and then you can see what it was. I do

4

Mr.How I asked that the Interpreter may give the answer which




f

g ===
l’-_l'l: i

not pfopose fhat the District Attorney shall stop the Inter-

preter; it is different from a witness in ordinary language, .

HI want him to give the answer to that question, let him

?_translate the answer.

The géurt: The Court is not in = position to rule upon the gues-
éftion whether it is competent or not until it is given.

By Mﬁ;McIntyre, Q- When you handed this revolver to Langeheine and
?told him to shoot the deceased, dia you superficially look in
i-these cnambers to see whether there were cartridges in them?

A. I did not look any more into it, I knew that tIe

revolver was not loaded else I would not have put it on the

‘counter.

Qe ;Now he knows that this revolver was not loaded --- you know
*as matter of.fact that the man was killed with this revolver,
idon't you? . A. I did not say that he shall
‘shoot the man deaa with it, I onlysaid, "the revolver is not
~“loaded. " | .
;Did you during any tlime +that you had this revolver in your
| Possession ever make an examination of the chambers of this

revolver in order to ascertain whether there:were any cart-—

ridges in it or not¢ 3 A. No sir. ‘
You told Langeheine to shoot the deceased, didn't you °

A. I did not, I only gave him the revolver and I said,

”"there is nothing in it."

it '
+Did not you tell him that if he did not take the sixty-five

i

&cents to shoot him? A. No sir, I did not say that.

A. I doAnot know, i did not hear that.

whether you said it or not then?




A: I know exactly that I did not say that.

tWhat did you put the revolver in Langeheine's hands fore

A. It was all joking.

shot tre

.deceased? A. I did not see any more.

;Hhere‘did you put it? A. I did not put it awaye.

;Whé rut it away if anybody d4id? ‘ A. I do not know.

Yoﬁ do n&t know where it went tp? A. I do not know.

iDo you remember when this revolver was founde®

f A. I do not know.

| Did you tell the police officer that Langeheine had thrown
the revolver.in a pile of sawadust? A. I do not know, I

“eannot recall any more.

i You cannot remember what yYyou said about that?

A1 .
: A. I 4diad not see the revolver any more.

i
|

; Did you tell thne pPolice officer that the deceascd had shot
7himself? ' A. Ne sir, I do not know anything, I-coum
;hot speak with the people because they were speaking English.

Officer Issing who testified here this morning did not you
Sce him at 168 Houston Streety A. I did not see him
| I made a surrender of myself.
+ Did not you see that officer in 1683 Hous ton Street?

A. No.

E;Did you tell that officer that the deceased shet himself?

A. No sir, I do not know anything about it.

did not take you at 168

with Schenrman, the

AT —re s
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A. No, immediately afiber that hap-

other witnessy

pened I went to the Station House.
o and Scheurman to tie

Did not Officer gamesand.Isging take y
: A No sir, they brought me after-—

‘Station House?
s to the Tombs, to the corner, to the Police stati on,

I

e
HTward
fwent alone with Scheurman.
Was there not any Proliceman in your Place until after +that

i
I did not see azny., I went im-

A

“man was shot?
fmediately to the Station House when I saw the man was dead

fand surrende red myself.
he say he de@ s

n wvho Zeft tlr revolver with

By the Court. Q. As I understand this witness dee s

?not remember the name of the m=
A.I do not know his
remember the amount of tlz deb+t that that man owed

‘him? name.

;Does he

1

ihime? A. Two ticke+ts amounting to six dollars.
the revolver Ffor debt or wasit left with nim as

Q. ‘Did he take
A. e did not give it to me Ffor good, he

i
1§
H
,

a deposit?
only said, "keep it +ill T come Saturday andl will ray you;
in the meantime keep the revolver."

A. No, he did not come.

Did he come on Saturday?
Didnhe ever come back since that time? A. He did not

is the reason why the revolver

g,
T e e bt S oy v eI

.come any more back and that

SX .

remained the re.
"How longs was it before the day of thnis
A- It might have been four or five days béfore-

‘shooting?

om

vi
i

iy

i

ffDid you ever own a revolver before that time?®

‘A. No, never,
Did you ask this man anything about the condition ol
revolver as to whether it was loaded or not?

he said "there is nothing

A. He himself told me,

[ SO
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it ‘is not loaded", and I believed it, I daid noi thinkbany

e

' This man told you that? _ A. Yes sir.

Did you ever examine it at any time? ’ "A. I put it

% .

iunder the éounter before that, that counter had a bar, and

]there is a place where they wash the glasses, tlere I puat it

fin, I'did not pay attention any mecre to it.

By Mr.McIntyre, Q. How long had the man who gave you this revolver

Qe

. been eating in your place? A. I cannot tell exactly,
fI had many ecastomers and so I could not tell.

"Do you know his name®? A. NO.

Q- You trusted = man whom you did not know and did not know his

;i name and could not tell how long he had been eating in your
&élace? _ A. Yes I did, I krew that he was in the
:tannery, there was a big tannery there and thiere are so many
tanneries there and they used to come and when it happened
'%hey haq no money I trdgd them and they alwags raid me Sau-

urday.

By the Court. Q. Was this man in the habit of paying you on Satur—

Q.

Q.

.

Vday? ' A. He always care Saturday but that Saturday
fhe did not come any more, I think he placed himself somewhere

‘else to work.

Did he sieep in that restaurant?

nﬁived with me, I only»furhished meals.

; This six dollars was a debt, wasn't it, that resultea from

i

a number of small debtse A. Six dollars for the

N

tickets for two wecks meals.

i Were all themeals eaten up when he gave you the revolver?

N e

imore about it, I 4did not see anything in it and so I believed|
. i

i
t

)
;
'
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A. Five days before he gave it to me when he took the i
iiseconci ticket, _then he could not pay for the Tirst one, hé l
.took the second and then he gave me the revolver.

Had you an& idea of the value of the rvolver?

"A. No sir, I never bouglc a revolver, I never had any-{

thlng to do with fl re arms.
By‘Mrf-j,wae. Q.- Wiqer_l you handed the revolver to Langeheine did you
?f:know it was .loaded? A. No, for sure note.
Qe ngut you do know that the Pistol went off and killed the man?
A. Yes sir, I know it now.
,;Do you: knowv that Langeneine dropped the Pistol on the saw-

dust on yur floor, is that true or do you know anything

'-igabout it? A. I do not know anyth'ing about thate.
You do not know where. it was found tle r;?
A. I db not know.
When it was produced before the Coroner, you do know, as
officers know, and is written tle re, that there were six
empty chambers in it, is not thatso?

A- I do not know, I did not see anything in the re-~

volver.
Then the revolver was empty wnen you were at the Coroner's

office? A. Yes sir. it was empty, thoroughly

empty.

i MPy e MOss 2 We have closed our case your Honor.

PRTER E. JAMES, recalled by Mr.McIntyre.
Q- ‘ Officer James, on the 12th of February of last y ar did you

go' to 168 Houston Street in c¢rmpany with Officer Issi ng?

A. Yes sir.

s
i
1
3
H

What time was that? A. About five minutes to

it twelve.




Did you see Koenigsberger there? A. Yes sir.

EYou saw the body of a deceased Person on the floor?

A. Yes sir,
Did you and Oificer Issing take Koenigsberger tc¢ tlp Station
QHouse? : ’ A. Yes sir.,

fAt that time was he in liquor or not¥ He had been
fd?inking.
Q- fWas he under the influence of liquore / Yes sir, a
Clittle. '
By Mr}Howe. Q. Scheurman_went along
T A. Yes sir.

Mr.McIntyre: The peonle rest, your

Counsél: I ask your Honor to charge the Jury as matter of law, to

jfadvise tre Jury to acquit this defendant upon the evidence of

“manslaughter in the second degree.
The Court: Motion denied.
Counsel: Give me the benefit of an exception.

The Counsel summed up to tie Jury.

The Jury rendered a verdict of guilty of man-

slaugnter in the second degree.
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Inquest into the Death
Before

HON. DANIEL HANLEY,
and a2 Jurye.

—Off

'MORRIS CGOLDSMI TH.

New York, February 17%4h:, 1891,
2 o'cleck, P. A

Appearsnces & Mr. Howe appears for Mr. Charles Konigs-

bergor; Mr. Hageman, zsppears for William Langen -

Iteine; for > District Attor-

for the relative

OFFICER MICHAEIL BISSERT‘, being elled zs 2 wi tnhess

by the Coroner, was duly sworn, =nd testified =g follows;

By +he Coroner:-
Q Now, officer, state to +the Jury whet vou know about +le

circums tances wiich led +o +he death of Meorris Goldsmitl:, =os
far as vou know +them? Al Last Fridsy, on +the 12+%h inst.,
about half 2 I was in the station house snd = men came

ruming in d tiat & man was shiot dovm s+ Hous+don

Strect, in ¢ astaurant, snd whilse I was in +he station
liouse immadiately af ter Hvo othier men czing in and s tated
that the man was shot was & glazier, and +tlie man +that shiot

him had run away. I irmmediately weqi;_,-down to Houston Strad,

end én my way down I met an offi oor fron the 10tk Precinct.




.

H'e'stated to me that the man that shot the man in Hous ton

Ssti'eet he haed him in +the 104k Precincet Stztion hous e; one of the

witnesses followed tlie man and hed lim arrested =t +he cormer of

Houston and Mulberry Streets; I placed Mr. Konigsberger under ar-

'r?s-f-,.
Q Wherc is he, - is he here? A
(Pointing +o +te
Precinc+t and sot
Q Is tlat the otlier man? (indi cating to Lengenheine,
prisoner)  A.
Q
Koni;‘»:sberp;er A4
And the cther msn was tlie assistont,
Yos, siv; I brough+ both
him renanded +o this office‘-
That is 211 you know about the casge? Thie next dsy
wards = ledy came there from the restaurant snd liended me

vhich she gsid shte foumnd in +he COrNer.

Objscted to by Mr. Hove:

-

Mr. Lyym: We h botter hsar whet was ssid thiere.

>

Mr'. Howe objeds +to +he testimony and
tl:ie stenomraphoer note his objoc-
tlie prounds +herecof .
object on of Mr'- Howe
rulad and +hs Coroner orders +le wi
to proceed witl lids testimony‘.
The Coroner: Is the lady in +he room, officer?

Officer: Yes, sir; she is.

Q ' Go right on, officor? A, I asked the lady wi:

ere she found
the pistol.




NePeNul=

I

Mr. Howe renews his obijocction +o dlis

(%

.

tes timony .

The Coroner: The officer will plsase proceed. A. T
asked the lady where she found it and she stated to me she found i+

in a corner smong a pile of saw-dusi; I +hien recel ved the pis ol

end I have it in my possession yeb.

Q Is 41 i g ended you? (Pistol sliown wi tsss)

A'.
Q
o

Were +there any bullebs in
s tle way I roceived it’-
Tlie Goroner: I wish tc state to the Jury Hiat
let thet the deputy coroner extracited fran ihe body
of the deceased is in the office and the Clerlk las
ite
BY MR. LYNN :-
Q You don'® know whetler
ing was dons, otler tha.n whet
And it was found in the ce? . Yes, sir.
Who is this lady? A. 2 wife of e dofendant herel.
Do yau know hLier namne - her first name? A'. I don't ]CI'IO\V‘-
The wife of which def erdant her e? A.. The wife of Konigs~
bercer.
Q  Whet time was this when you mot that pistol?
after.
Q Did they send #& +the station house after you? No,
Q You went down there yourself? A, Yes, sir; when I

charge of +4ldis prisoner hore, Langenheine, I asked him what




.-\"'Ji;{',.l’L- the pistol and he said I dropped it in the saloon and I ran

out.
Q .Did you ask him whose pisiol it was? A Yes, sire.
Q ﬁ"ﬂ'ézt dd he say? A. He stated to me ithat it was handed to
“him by Konigsb erg‘er'- »
Q ;'(By' M. AHowe:— This question intervenes - was Konimsbercer pr
§enf of thia othier def mdant when thet stabement was rade?
A'. i‘To-,, si-:r"~
My. Howe: I objact to the introduc#ion of +let evidence
on the ground that Konigsborser was notb Present,
and thet thie evidence as against Konigsberger is in-
compe ten ’c:-
Mr'- Lym: Let it g0 on record as
Did you arrest Konigsbermer?
'Where?' A‘. In tih:e station
He had been there pardt of the n Not

at his place.

nocent - lad nothing

did not intend -

Q He said he had notliing 4o do with it%

Q Did he use tie words, "nctling 10 do witi 1it"?

he spoke in German, yes, sir'.

Q ifou understand German? A'. Ye s'.

Q And that is +he correct tmnsiation of +he
;fes, sir'.

He was dinnocent and had nothing +o do wi +i:




hat was ebout ¢ hie conversa-

Q7 Wlat else did he say?

tion I hLiad wi+l: 14
thing sbout whio shot thie man? . He did, le

menti"on_ed tlds man's name.
Q - Wiat did he say? .-‘\.'A‘. ] i ine 2 was fool—
111;“\71@ the ristol énd

Q Did he_.‘say any%ﬁ:ing‘ > ‘ it is about all the conv er-
sation I had with him‘.

Q Did lie explain how +hey were fooling? A, Ho, sir.
deceasad parsen, Morris Gelée

Q Did he say ~nytiing concorning +he
smitle? A. I left +the station Licuse and went %o #ie

inct, after this man, and the conversation I had v+l
Prisoner, Lanrrenl'teine, ~ohing; ovar - —
Q Dig you hc:\rn any mlr ther conversation wi th Konigsbe
A 'No+t ut thiat +imee.
Subsequentnto that? A. Ho, siy.
i{ou had
And =211 > had wi vk teim Theth y o1 told us?
Yes, gi
Q : sentonces?
Q He was imocent and knaw no 7 al v iH? A.. He said I 1zg
nothing to do wi it, I am - / end mentioned +lis man's nemes
that he wasg the one that shob him'.
By I\P HOWE:—
Q Ana -r,L:t it was gn accident? A
BY MR. LYNI\ -
Q Did he Say any thing about ttd s man Putting eny
Premis as? A I had +the conversation with ‘

t}at.




onversation I had with Mr. Konigssberger.

Tell us what said? A. On +the way coming over I

wibl the pistol, lie said, I drovped it
did v aa 'céme to slicot Hlat man;
there and lie was = =nd thiey
2 dispute.
Who hiazd +he dispute? 2 two def andar
cbout the price, lie i d ic daceased danonded

erger only warndt ol

renhioine #lwe pis o

&

of vecice, and the:

Q Who said +hat? thie conversation I had wi

genh®dineg .
Q Langenheine said +that they had a quarrel? A

disputs about

Q About tis $1.05% 5 znznded $1.05

Iim .65.
Q Did he say what tle decezsed then did after e was offered
e 65 cents? A'. did not, he wouldn't acc.cpt ifb‘.
Q Did le say any'bhlngr that the glazier had done +lers af bor he
demanded the ‘Bl 05? A. No, sir‘.
then bzt Konigsbermer hiended em the pispl? .
from belind +tle countor and saild to ltim, +here is
in itb, and Le said out loud +hen snd. said, "Shooct tlw mon,
shiocot the msn deadl." —
bid s say what he did? A, He said Lie pullea tle trigoer
several times snd +tle s} 10t went off and +he man f,-ll and I drowped

the pistol znd »un out of +he. Dlrce.

s g T ey

N
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s ' ‘ . + P
Q Didv vou ask him ‘.Vhy e ran out? A. He gsaid I f0v scared,

Mr. Howe: I liave no questions.
‘My. Howe: I now demand it Hhe stenographer read ovaer

to this witness tlie “westimony which

mony is read over +o the witness by +tle stm omrab ha

Fher the +o stimony wes read over +o
tha witness Lo subscribed ldis nane +o the
stenooraptic notos and s = ot 1+ was

cerrect rocord of tla tes timony whii he

ABRAIIANM GOLDSIAT TH, bo- o oeczll : 2 tne v tig
Covoneyr, duly sworn,
BY THE CORONER:-
Q Wiere do vaa Iive? ' ) o Houston Strset.
relation cype vou %o +the decrasad, Moryis Geldanit1®
son‘.
Yo see your faitliep Prior {0

ITJ was zmbout ninas o '¢locl

went to worls, in tltie morming.

Q What time was tha £2 Al About seven o'el ock in the moming.

Do Yy QU Trememb er 4lis de to? A, I thinlk 44 was J'hursday mor n-—
> Februygpy 12,




A. Yes, sire.

e e o
Wase your father in good heal+th at thet time¥

X E R i S L U > s .
Nothing was the. matter with hidm? A, No, sir

When you saw lim next he was Tes, gir.

)

SLOMC »

Where? Al ‘Heme, whon they brought rim

L your house‘? Al No. 282 East Hous ton Strasect

that of your fatier, Mor-

And vou fully iden+ified the bLody as

ris Gol dsmi12 A Yes, sir.
. over bo i

GUSTAV EDWARDS, being duly swoim,

- By 7§ ‘OROITER; -
LY U COROW L Peaw (2 e M= £ Mf% L
Q- Wi do'you 1ive? 4. or 86 emenn o provéint.

W"u.-t; is vour bu Al I h:, Ve been Cul"lﬁ' as wai ter.

Wit orp" A. At 188 Houg 1o’v Stre o for Mr. Konigsberaer .
=t 188 Hrgt

Q Did you See the allamed sl £ ¥ placs

Hous ton Strect, on tha 12+, Ug [es, sir;

in the s=al 00il.

Q Take your tims, and 4011 thoso g tlsmen vhet vou saw and what

you know abont tlie case of your ovm bPerscenal knowl od;:e" A’_. It
7as sbout %an o '¢lock in +the mornnp' when thig p:lazier wvas Dassing
ouxr restaurant; I den! t know higs naMea; I never s&en the man be-
fore" & couple of paznes of £lass wore broken in our "’L"’ldO\V- I'."Ir’.
Konip;sbomnr and I seen him - pzgs ang Mr. Kon:z_mgbe“f“ r callad
plazier -Hp and asked him vhat he would chergoe %o Put = psne of

F%ass i don't knmow gbout, +he charme, he said put in tle Pang of
gLass; I dont Yt know What +3,- - - ;
! “ley agreed upon;  Konigsh raer had some




I NN -

old mlass &t liis hane No. 226 Chirystie Streest, and e and e glag-

ier went over there, e glazier came bzck snd finished luis job, Msw

Korzigsber,n:er alsc came back duii ng the time the men was doing his

work, and =af ter the man did finished his work, he asked

Mr. Konigsberser for pane of glass, snd then I

.

heard him amroe +0 1.05.

Q You ey agrreed to $1.05? A. fluat of Mr. Gole

Mr--Konip;sberp;er, liz had besen Gdrinkinge, when he

smibh's moutl:;
I can-

Came into the restsurant, snd whetler cut of a joka or nob,

ts on tihie bar, o cod Goldemitl

-

not tell, he »nut sixty-five con
in a kind of & jocular menner, "Pleass take +1. Y 1 85

”

centSe Goldsmi+th: refused, =ng

‘rant at the sams +ims, so e wut
the man 4o taeke +tho sixty-rive cents; nod in a wl/u,aff;/wwj meEnner,
just in a Jjoke; i+t was = 2s I say, in a jowlar way. |
» Objec ted 'to‘- |
BY THE CORONER:

Q We ask +this witness to tell what he lnows abﬁu‘b thet, case‘.
(Witness continuing) As it was nesr dimmer time I had some work

to do +o get ready for my dimmer, =nd I didn't pey any more atten~

.

.

tdon, I was Pouring out milk when I hesrd = shot, at the sazme mo-
ment, I turned around end seon t}'xo msn dyrop and Lengentieine stending
in fiont of +tho man with thie revolvei' in his hand'.

Q  Whom dig yau see drop? Al Goldsmi+l,, +e deceasead; Mr‘-
Konig‘sberp:er at the ssme time was behiind +%ile bar; I took the re-

.

volver out of Langenheine's hand, put.it on *he +able beliind me,

and was going +o not# fy +he Police; I didn's £0 myself, bu+t tl':ei'e

was a butcher next door he asked me what is the mattor and I told




him thet a man head been stiote So he ran to the station

4 time Langenhi=ine

P

hous e ana notified +tie polxce, and during tla
‘.Walkea out; that is =211 I know about the shooti Hnee

BY MR. LYNN:- o

Q - You v)en.* ther- Lan;r snhoine? A(. I did not, sir.:
Q  You did not cause his re A ~ Wo, SiTe

Q Did you walk back +to pour the milk oud in +he sal onn -

said your ﬂtueam onn required you e.l sewhiere - where did you

You go bzck in +the reg teuren 2 A, Back to my work.
. , . ) .
Q Hovwr far bsck did vou co? Al Hera is tho €esss, i czh b

.

about five feoeote

Q - The bayr is in front of +he

Q Near +he door? Al. Yes,

five feet away from +he bar‘.

Q Ab'ou'_b Tive feet? A‘. Yes, sir‘.

Q .AHbv«.r' far were you away fram ttis def andant here wWat shot the
‘man? A. I was awsy sbout from hiere » = from here to Hlat
miling..

Q He we &t the end of +he 21, NERItac e door?

A. He was no+t, he was near the vwindow, Kon:p.;r‘bor.,er was behind

.t'} to b&I’ -

Q How far was Kon igsberger from y qu? A. About five foet.
Q

Ry

How fzr was Morri s Goldsnitk? A‘. Jus+t in front of Langen—
-heine.

Q As far as from rere +o 4 : A‘. Yes, sir-.

Q You think thet was ab out fifteen fect? A‘. I don'+ know
any thing sbout bhat; I camot say exactly.

: Q } Aft—"r yoaa had heard Langenteine say o tlis deceased man in

ulm_s Jocular way, "Teke the six’c,y-five.cenus," wha‘l; did you liedr®




Nof,}.ting; I didn't pay any more abbtentions.

I 2¢k you what you heard? A. Nothing.

Ttie next you heerd was +he report of = pis tol? Al Yes, sire.
that? Al Yes, sir, I am.

Ll

Axre you sure of

Now, vou pey atbention +o me, do you hear blat? A. Yes, sir.

- How many were in tlie saloon ot dliet time? - A. Mr. Konigs-

berger and #Hwo more wi tnesses, and Goldsmi+th and Langentieine.

Whet are +he names of +he widtnosses +le® v trera?

. .

A. Gus tev Schieayman, No. 1689 znd 171 Centrzl Avenue, Brcoklyn.

is the nmame of tlie other wi tness? Al

255 Jay Street, Brooklyn.

l:0ee i@ hbre men tlat were +lere?

ey
Were tlere any otlier vorsons there?

in the back, in tle kitchen.

. Cerfens MalLlto ‘

Now,_&v_ere the two witnesses thaed vou h ned here, and
ldo s tood up, where were tley - were they oo, She Sime?

A. Vollmer came in sboutd five minutes boforz +re shioco Hng oc=

“

curred or +wo minutes or tlree minutes; I camot say exactly;

he came in and ordered = cup of coffee; I waitead on lim snd plsced

.

tle coffee before hime.
Q Where was he sidbi ng? A wa 1 % & of the
tables in +the restourante

Q Was lie nearer +o Konigsberger and Lengeniweine +than Vvl wera?

A. He was near&#bangenhisine and Goldsmith +han he was +o Konigs-

‘berger.

Q' Was he nesrer to Langenhieine and Goldsmith than you ware?

.

A. Yes, Sil"n
Q Ti:e table was botwean? A. The +table is on one side; it was

Nearer Langenhsine than I was; 1ot at the +ime when I rut the cup




of coffee on #se tablee.
Q Wha t +ime of the—da_y was +this b wa about 1alf pashd
eleven or twenty minutes of *welve. |
Q  ;)_(ou are sure it was before twelve o'clock? A. I am poai‘bf
iVe'- ‘
Q@ Have you steted all *hs porsons et wers in
Al. To my kncwledge.
Wouldn't you know who was in “hare? don't know of

body else H:wet was in thers =+ thaet time.

Q You and Konigsberser, Lansenlhieiner, Mrs. Konimsbormer, Mr.

MW

Goldsmith, Mr. Vollmer, and Sc,hr,urman,/\f il 1s seven? AL Yeos, sir.

Q Now, the ki uchon yar spealk of, Mrs. Konigsberger being, in, is
in tle back? A. Yes, sir.

Q Wiet is the depth? A I 'cannot tell yvor by the feet, I

as this room, whare thoe witnesses are from whoere

A. About, from lore one

.

25 or 30 fasif A, I cammot say.

S e

i

But she was +i:ore? A. Yos, sir.

Is tlhiere any partition betwean the kitchen as you cuall

restaurant pProper? A. Yes, sir.

Has it any opan- ing? A.. Yos, sir.

Open.np's thet run fron the floor to the ceiling or merély
slu:z.qes? A. A door and besides =z small hole where +h.e food is
passed out 1o Hie wai ter..

[Q" Was‘ threre any loud noise in the restaurant at tle+ time?
A. I cannot swear +o it; I didn't bpay no attention to it.
Q Vil oo B




Ao

Q. When you lef'b and wmed your Baak d1d you tirn your

back when you were look'l.ng at Lang:enhe:nne pass:l.ng 'the 65
cents to Goldsrm.th’ ' A. Yes, sire. ‘
| Q ‘Did you “burn your- back? A. Yes“, sir; I walked right
‘over Where “the Wéév&'@na standing. |
Q What Was the last word that you heard Lang;enhelne say to

Goldsm:.th, any speech? A. I cannot tell; I haven't
heard nothlng.

”

'.Q Did you hear him say anything? A, I heard him saying
sometldng in a jokee. '
_‘,,»»*'”Q I 'wan'b to- know what he said? A. *Please maccept this

money, something like tha t.

Q Did you. hear Goldsmi +h say a:nyth:tng? A. Not that I
recollec'b.

Qi D1d you ‘hear anything else between ’chat time that you
mrned ‘around and you heard +he shot? A. Not that I
recollect.

Q The next you heard was the report of the pls'bol?

A’. Yes, sire

Q_ How- 1ong a time 1n*bervened be'bween ‘the time that you
turned your back on Langenhe:.ne and Goldsm:.th and the time
you went to that fable and poured out the m11k - poured the
m'_-.lk out - did you hear the sho-t," A. Not very lorg.

Q Have you any conception how long a minute is? A Yes, six
é_ © Give us, if you can, the time that elapsed between the
i me t.hat you saw h:Lm shmre that money and say pleass 'take
it to the 't.1me you went back to the ~ba.ble and poured +the
m11k ou'b‘? A. About one or two ma.nutes.

.

Q And you heard nothing intervene? - A. Yo, sir.

7 1SRN R TS NI AR
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-‘ Q Do you know how far that d:.stance is from Langenhe1ne

- and Goldsml'bh to where you were" i A. To about, here ;

v"(:.llustratang) .
.That is about 1t." A- Yes, sir.
‘You saw Where I S'bood? A‘. "Yes; s:i.r'
When I clicked that p1sto].? A, Yes, sire ’
D1d you hear any person. c11ck that pis 'bol that elay before that

shot was fired 11ke I cllcked it? A._ Not % that I recolled:,.
Q ' You d:.dn ‘t, hear it - you d1dn t hear it as you reolle@"

~A. NO, Slro

i Q When you 'turned around what were the positions of Langenhelne
and Goldsm:.th" A. Goldsm:.th was lying on the floor. |

Did you see him fall‘? A. T just saw him fall.

. .

Cx1 'bhe floor prostrate or sitting up" A. He was lyinge.

Stxalgh'b? A. ‘ Yes, sire.

P

What position was Langenheine in? A, Standing in front of

s
hime:

‘over him -or-in front of him‘t; A. In front of himl.-

Was he on +the floor at that tlme" A: Goldsmith, yes, sir.
Langenheine stood in front of him? A‘. fes, sir"-

'Fa-.cing downwards +to him? A’. —Yes, sir'-

How was his hand? A. H1s right hand was down on the side

with the revolver in his hand.

Q. How did Konigsberger stand? A. He was standing behind the

bar, Kon:.gsberger Was beh:.nd the bar.
%do{&,o«/ ‘.

é”*ﬂn the end of the- bar? fl- Near.to the endl'.

Q Nearest to the lco.'bchen‘? A, Nearest to the lq.bchen.
Q

Q

And nearest to you? A; Yes, s:.r, nearest. t0 mee.

Wha‘b Position were his hands in? A, I don‘ t reoilecf,’.

2




Q Had Mrs. Komgsberg:er heen 1n 'bhe k:L'bchen at that t'lme

When 'the shot was f1rr=d? A -¥_es, s1r-§
Q Be hlnd 'bhe partltaon" A‘. -ifes, sir'.
B é Did. you say ar*y*bh:;.ng' to this def endant Langenhe:me when you
?za:me out.? : bA-{ I think I sa:.d ."Youbhave shot ~bh:l.s man dead.
(_2 And wha t reply did he make - what reply d1d he make to ’that
When you said those Words" | A. ' He was excited -

’ .,Alf;swe_r the question; I wan'b to know what he sa_'n.d when he made

‘of those words? - A. I sa:Ld, "You have shot h1m dead.

. What did he say? A. X rhd:n t mean to do 1-[-,.

Engli-sh or German? A. I don't recollec'b now.
Can he speak Er.'gllsh‘? ‘ A. A llttleo
You don' t. recollec'b whether he spoke E11g11sh or German?

No, s:l_r. ,

: Loz .
Your best recoll ection is Wha'b,‘ﬂ

SR P’C‘N“Bﬂ“,,, BB

thought th jwﬁiﬂiw»&sm@’giw ’Lo‘gag;?dr?gaquw:,&m‘z‘a:;‘fm%sﬂ5%&””‘«&&8::2%&&.@»“' i
wﬂﬂxas the last. remark? A, *I thought the pistol was nob
loaded.
Was not loadsd, is 'tha'b 11'," A'. "Was not Ioaded’.."'
Wha ¢ else did he say? A. I don't i-ecolie;:'b’.
You do not recall? A; | No, 'sir'. _
Did 'Kon:v.gsberger say anything? A.. Konigsberger he came from
behind the bar and commenced crying and wringing his hands.
Now, you are an. :|.n'bell1gent. men, I ask you what was said?
“ e , *He thought the revolver was not loaded.
»Q- - Who said that? A'. Kom.gsberger, you know, he said to me,
"I t.hough'b the revolvar was not loaded.

Qnowwhotvﬂ%g g eaka.ng when he said that? 4 LT
- He said, ®"You
L g% S{% revolv Was not loaded. A’» ‘ -'.9 E




Kl

Q What did Langenheine say then? A, Langenhei'_ne was about

§ *bha't. time oul:. of the place.
Q When you grabbed the pistol away from Ihim or took it away from

h:l.m d1d you exam:mne the plstol" ' No, s:i.r.

Q . Dld Yyou examine the p:.s“bol when you took it away from Langen-
he:.ne? A. - No, sir.

Qv, You didn't feel called upon to examine 1:-1 af ter he 'bold you I
'thought. it was not loaded" A. I was too much exclted because

I was too exc:i_ ted, just to notify the police.

Q What did you do with the p:stol after you seized it or took it
out of the hands .of Langenhe:.ne" A. As far as I recollect I
put it on the table rig:ht behind me..

d - The ‘table you poured the milk from? A. A% another table in
the ma.ddla of the floor, the first table right behind the bar as
you come ine.:
é Was there any person at that ~ba.b].e" A'. No, sir.
Q - It was unoccupied? A. Yes, sire.
Q  And you laid it you Hhink on top of tiab table? 4. Yes,
sir; I thini{ S0 .

- _'.;.Q 'Had Mrs. Komgsberger come from the kitchen at that time?
) A. Yes, 81 AP

Q What did she say at that time when Langenhe:.ne and Kom.gsberger
WwWere there if she saa.d any thing? A. I don't recollect.

Q Did she say anything that you recall? A’. No, sir; I don't
recall any'bhing. '

Q You mean by 'bhat. tha‘b she said nothing or that she said somé‘-
‘('hing" Ao Cie

_ that she.said somethi that you cann ? ‘
v.gazmo?i‘; recall that she sa:r.d ﬁyﬂaing): °% recall A




Yes, sir.

Now, had you ever seen that plsbol before? A.

Where? A. -1 seen it beh1nd the bar.
And Where beh:.nd the bar? A.- .~ On top of the bar, there is a

shelf there, I seen :i.'b lylng' there-
Q . Undger" 'bhe ‘bar? A. Yes, sir.

Q And 1n view of & person pass:mg beh:z.nd the bar? A.

of a person passing.behind the bar.

4

Q@ On a shelf on top of the bar? A, Yes, sir.

Q How long ago is it that you first saw tha'b pistol? AL It

.was on 'the same day when the shooting occurred.

”

:-.Q‘ Was i:ha'b the first Hime you saw that p:.st.ol" A. Yes, sir.

Q The same day the shooting occurred on the 12th of February,
18217 A. Yes, sire.

.

’Qf. Wha'b 'b::.me of the day was 113 you saw iht? A. About 11 o'clock
Q You were behind the bar when you saw it? A‘. Yes, sir;

I had some- ma't.ches or sometling to get and I Jjust seen the p::.stol
1y1ng there.

Q' And that was 'bhe first time you ever knew that Kon:l.g'sberger had
a pis ‘bol behind there? A, Yes., sir; or had = pistol.

. OAC LT  rzq,

Q D:r.d you say anything to him when yourm4was drawn +o 't.ha'b -
When your attention was drawn to that? A. I told Iim to be
careful with the revolver. | ] N

Q. You said 'bo Kon:v.gsberger to be careful with the revolver?

<

A, Yes, sire

Q  And tha'b was 11 o clock the same day" A‘. - Yes; sir‘.

Q And before 'bhlS shoomng? A. Yes, sir.
Q 4And that was before this glazi er came in, was it not, or

was the glazier working there -l-hen" A, hat was why when the
glazier had finished his work. R '

.5v. .
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Q ‘And before any of this da.spute began" A. I\lo, sir, right

;through the dispute Whlle the dlspu'be was going one. :

Q) Tha'b you went behlnd the bar about 11 o clock? -As A little

-af ter eleven. - o o

é And saw the pis+tol? A. Yes, sire.
on the shelf «

Q You said to him what? A, I said, 'Komgsberger, be careful,
P — -

""1'13 may be loadec. - the revolver may be loaded.® , R

"¢ What did he say? 4. Konigsberger pushed ##¢ a 1ittle and

said, *Oh, I know it dis not loaded. >
have 't.he pls'bol in his hand at that Hime or

-Q Behlnd the bar? A. Yes, sir;

‘.4

Q Did Komgsberger

was it on the shelf? A. It was on the shelf.

Q And that was some few minutes before this dlspute you have men—

tloned took place" A-. Yes, sir.
Q You came from behind the bar then and wen+t about your duties?

.

Ao Yes, sire. .
- %
Q ' Did you ask d&wem that day when you saw the plstol for the firs+

time where he had got it? A. No, sir.
Q Did he say to you where he had got 1t" A, No, s:.r.

P

’

Q ~ Did htz tell you about what he had it there for A. No, sir.

Q What was it that led you to say to Konlgsberg'er when you saw
the revolver for the f:l.rst 'ta.me, to say to Komgsberger, "Be care-

-

,fu.l. for tha-b revolver, it may be loaded"' A. Because he was

drunk
~-Q, He was drunk? A. Yes, sir.

- . . .

Q (By Mro HOWe) Konigsberger was drunk? 4. Yes, sir.
BY NIR. LYNN -

Q Was t.ha'b the reason you said it? A, fes, sirr.

Q Was there anything else said that you have not tes+tified to




about -bha'b revolver? A. Not that I know of <.

Q You do not recall" A. I do not recali.

Q . You did not take the revolver in your hand when you saw it on

the shelf. for. 'bhe first 'blme" A. I d:.d.
Q You took it out’ A. I only heldi-b in my hand and told Kon-

1.0‘sberger ‘bo be careful with i+, I d1dn b take it from beh:n.nd the
bar I stayed rlgh‘b where it la::.d and said be careful with that re-

~

volver, and put it back aga1n.

Q_ You don 'b know how many cart.mdges were in it then? A,

P

cannot say.

Q@ Have you told all you know about this transaction? A. I have.
BY THE CORONER'

.

. Q Is that the revolver? A. I couldn't swear bo it.

BY MR. LYNN‘
Q Was it in good order that day, if you know? A. T don'+t knowe

.

BY A JUROR’- _

Q Dud you ever see a plstol in his place before? ~A. No, sir.

A - .

Q Dld he have any o...her plS'bO]. bes:.des tha'b" A. No, sire

Q How long have you been employed there? A. When the shoot-

ing occurred about a week and =a half.

Q You are Worlang there now? A. The place 1s sold out.

Q (BY MR. FRIEND) . Where do you 11ve‘> A, No. 280 Bowery, at

Pres ent.

Q You are receiving pay fran Mr. Konigsberger's people‘? :

You have testified: 'bha;t Mr. Konigs'berger was drunk? Al. —Yes,

Was he in the habit of getting. thet way? A.  He was in the

. 7hab1-t. of 'bak:.ng his glass of- beer, because I know the .man Qes

i

e O e LT




drunk thét morning for the first time since I wes there, in the
'mo*rning he commenced singing what he never did before, and he
:&Z’dt?faaand went in the bg;:k yvard and laid down’.

Q ‘ What did he say, did he say anything or did you say anything to
him sbout it? Al. It was none of my business, he was my émployeﬁ'

A Q Do you know whether or not he rbought the revolver with him to

’

the store that morning? A, I don't knowe

You didn't see it the day before? A. No, sire.

.

Were you behind the bar the day before? A, Yes, sire.

‘Pre t—by‘much every day? A'. Occasi onally-.

When you went beh:md the bar the day of the shootlng you ould
seeg 11', read:.ly? » A. Yes, sir; right on the shelf.

v

_‘Q ' And it was where it could be seen behind the bar‘? A. Yes,sire.

Q You had aﬁ- occasion to go behind the bar prior to +that?

A. Yes, s:.r, that was the first time I ever seen a revolver in

the house.
BY MR. dOWE‘
Q Wha + 'b:.mn was this shoot:.ng" A. About ten minutes of twelve

or fif teen minutes of 'mrelve.

Q In the middle of the day? A. ;x'es, sir’.

Q What time did Konigsberger come to the store tha ¢ morming?
A. About half Past tene.
Q And he was 'bhen drunk? A. Sles, sir’. ,

Q ‘Mdrunk and he went out? A, He didn® 'b go out aga:.n,
-he wen+t 111 the back yard s1ng1ng and went to sleep.

Q You told Mr. Ly'nn » and he obJec-bed to it, you say immediately
af ter the shoomng you saw Konigsberger crying and wringing his )

‘hands, those were your words, as I took them down, that was +the

.

truth, was it ~ that was true, was i+? A, i{es‘, sir.




- BY MR. FRIEND:-

é ' You say the deceased, the dead man, come into ths place?

”

Ad ,Yes, Sire

‘

é - And you saw and heard them -balk about the price? A. No, sir.

Q You saw the dead man in his h.fe time on that mornming go with

Konigsberger to Chrystie Strset? A. I soen them passing out

of the place.

s

Q The two of +them? A, :Yes, sir.

Q You first heard them have a conversation? A. Yes, sir;

.

about the glass .

Q And the result of that conversation was that Konigsberger,

th:s pnsoner, and the dead man, Goldsmlth, they went out together?

A. Yes, sir.

P

Q And they went to Chrystie Street? A. -Yes, sire.

Q And in Ghrysme Street Goldsrm th received a pane of glass fran
Konlgsberg‘er? A. Yes, Sire
Q Kon:n.gsberger was not too drunk +to go *o Chrysta.e Street acom-

.

panied by Mr Goldsmi +h? A, I don't know.
Q But you do know they went there? A. Yes, sir'.
BY THE CORONER'

-

Q And they came back -bogether" A. Yes, sire.
BY N[R. F’RIEND’ <
Q And Kon:x.gsberger was drunk? A. He commenced singing, he

went to the back yard and laid dowm. ’

.

4 .. Q Is that the only thing you nota.ced" A. It is the only thing
I not:f.ced - I noticed him stagger-

Q You_ do_n t know whe'lzher he‘*vas sick? Ae I don't know, he has
\Qf, Pelt™like »tha‘bforﬁ\ 14 days.




Q - You don 'b know whether he was sick or drunk, as a matter of
fac'b‘? A. He seemed to me to be drunk
Q@ Did you smel'l. his breath? A. 1 cannot. tell.

Q You did not see him drink any‘bh:.ng? A.. A pint of beer was

’

dru:nk in the place between Langenbheine and somebody els Be

Q Whether Konigsberger drank any of it you don't lmow?
A. I don't remember seeing 1t.
Q And then simply from the fact that he was singing and felt in

a jocular mood, you say he was in a jocular mood? A, Jocular

4

mood «

- . . - ’

Q He went into the back yard? A. Yes, sire.
Q Did you see him lay down under a shed? A. Where the but-

«

cher shop is, " T never seen him lay there beforee.

-

Q He was in quite a jocular mood that morning? A, He om~

S

menced singing about love -

Q In love with all mank::.nd?

MR. HOWE No, Womankind-.
BY A JUROR:- )
é - Were you behind the bar when Mrl.- Konigsberger went out with
'the g;laz::.er? A‘l. To my recollection I was not‘.

.

"Q A ‘_Who rbendf'qd bar when he was away? A. The lady, Mrs'. Konigs~-
b_ergeiw '

’

Q You say they worked the growler in the saloon" A.
they had a p1n'l:. of beer.
BY THE CORONER:-

Y
. .

Q Do they sell beer in the saloon? Al No, sir.
BY MR. LYNN:-

A Y
- Pl

Q... What was the bar there foi'? Al To receoiverashe.

12
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BY MR.. FRIEND |
Q And to hold the . revolver with which to shoot people?

BY THE CORONER'

~

Q There ‘was no beer sold in the place at all" A, No, sire.

Q@ And no 11quor" A. - To one gen’oleman in the morning, a guest.

Q D:!.d you have 11quor in the place" A. A/‘#aa-s- of whiskey.

Q You serve no. bot‘bled beer with the dimmer? A. No, sir.

BY A JUROR‘

LY

Q Were you behind the bar at all that morning before 11 o'2ock?

Ao No+t 'bhat I recollect.

Q Do you ever go beh:-.nd the bar there? A, Ocasionally, yes,

K]

sire

P

Q How often in the day? A. It may happen not at all, and it

lmay happen once or 'bw:.ce.
BY THE GORONER:—

-
.

Q What time were you behind the counter that morning? A. Aboui
eleven o clock.

BY A JUROR‘

. s

Q _ Were you drinking that morning? A. No, sire
BY MR. LYNN -

Q Who was drlnk:v.ng the plnt of beer? A. Langenheine and
Somebody else, I don'+t know.

-

Q Was. he drunk? A, He ¢idn't seem to be very sober.

Q Who was drinking the beer with Langenheine? A. I cammot
recollect -~ it seems +o me =

Q Was l’b Vollmer? A, It seems to me, Mr" Schoarman did, I
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The testimony is read to the wi tness

at which he states *Elra'b it is a correct

.

statement of which he has given.




DR. PHILIP F. DONLIN, duly sworn, testified:

On February 13th, 1891, at No. 282 Fast Houston

Street, I made a post mortem examination of the body of Morris
Goldsmith, about fif<ty yearé of age, and found a pistol shot wound
of the left eye—brbw, immediately over outer canthus of left eye;
bullet wound extended through brain ana 1vdged i the pesterior
fossa of right side; +there was an extraevasation of blood +wo iriches
one way, #nd two inches long over the left ear?’ under +the scalp;
a fracture of.the left side of the skull exteﬁding from the wound
directly backvards an inch and a half behind the lef + ear. The
heart was Eyxmakxkkkatdx hypertrophied; kidneys chenged; other
.organs normal; death due to pistel shot wound of brain.

This is the bullet 1 ektracted from the head of the de-

ceased.
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Inquest. 1n'bo the Dea'bh

DANIEL HANLEY,

- cf -
. . and a Jurya-

MORRIS GOLDSMI TH.

saNrr e Nk s Ao W

Inques t resumed.

’

Same appearancese.
New York, February /?51891.-

GUSMVE SCHIRMAN"H duly sworn, test:xf:.ed’
Adolph B Ehrl:.ch is sworn to inter-

Pret the testimony of this wi tnesse.
BY THE CORONER:=-
Q ' Where do you live? A. In Brooklyn, No. 165 Central Avenuee.

Q Wha'l:. is your bus::.ness" A. Pastry cook.

Q Where do you Work‘? A. " At present I work with my brother in

BrOOklyn.

Vs

Q What is his name? A. August Schirmann.

- .

Q Where does he live? A. In the same housage.

8@ . pid you see the shooting take place which caused the death
of Morris Goldsmit+h? A, I did.

Q Where did it take place and what time of the day was it?
Al In Houstan Stree ‘b, No. 168.

.

Q Was it Bast Houstcn S'bree'b? A. i{es, sire.

Q What time of the day? A. Betwesen eleven and twelve o'clock

~in-:the. morn:.ng.

.

Q Tell the Jury how it occurred ‘and what you saw? A. In t.he‘
morning I was 'ba.k:.ng my brea.kfast at the restauran'b of Mr. Konigs -

berger, when the glaz:.er came in to put in a pane of glass; then

’”‘.«Kon:.gsberger sa:a.d he ‘had an old Pane- ‘of glass that mlgh'b be




i ‘of glass,

great use yet and 'bhey both went out to have a look at that pane

then af ter a Wh:.le the glazzler came bak alone and af ter

‘him Mr..homgsberger came; Mr. Konigsberger seemed to be in merr:x-:

:.'.'men'b a.nd 'bh ey had been dnnk:.ng and he began.singing; .-when the
:; »glaz:.er dema:nded his pay for the work Konigsberger" pu‘o down 31xty—

_ flVe cents and said that was enough; the glazier insisted upon
having $1-.05 for his work; Konigrsberg‘er began to poke fun at him
and began to make jokes and said he would get no more than 65 cen‘bs
then the wai ter W:Lll:.ams Joined in the Joke, and they bsgan +o
make fund of the man.

Q Who is that man Wi 111ams" A‘. It dis William Largenhelne.
then the wai ter Langenhieine said he must take the money whih was
offered him; and then I saw that Langenheine had a kn1fe, he ap—
Proached Goldsm:.'bh in a joking way 'bell:.ng him that he would cut
his throa'b. then at once I noticed a revolver lying at the corner
of the counter of the bar.

Q Was 1t. on top of 'bhe ocunter? Al. There was = vessel on top
of the counter and near by the revolver was lylng, then I saw
that Langenheine brandlshed the revolver over the head of +the de-
ceased and said +to h:Lm, 'You take your money or I will kill you; M
then I heard a p:.stol report and thereupon the nmn fell dovm sho'b
dead; I heard ihe report and then a pistol shot.

By fhe Coroner.

* ’

Q Did you hear a click befors the shot? A. I camot tell.

é/ What was +he f1rst you heard, the report of +the pis 'bol snot?
Ae I heard s click- _ .

d Whe t was the next you heard? A‘. Then I said to Edwards you

mus+ call in the pol1ce, then a few pol:.cemen came in and found

.

the man dead and we were arresteda.

Y




BY MR. HAGEMAN e

Q | Where was Langenheine at the time you were arrested?

.

Al; When the man fell down Langenheine ran away through the door.

BY MR. LYNN:- | |

é Whet tim;.did you get to that .restauran'b that momiﬁg?

AI. Between nine and ten o'clock in the morning’

é Were you there before Konigsberger or did Konigsberger come in

af ter you? - A. Konigsbergér was there before I came; I found

him there.

.

Q What did Konigsberger do when he came there first? A. He
was behind the bar, I didn't pay particular attention to what he

was doinge.

Q@ Was Langenheine there at that time? A, Langenheine came
afterwards, hs came in lat.ero

Q How late? A. Well I should Judge it was about a half an

hour la'ber tha ¢ Langenhe:.ne came ine.

é About half past ten? A. I don't know the right 'time‘.

Q Where did you stand at the time you heard the conversation
between the glaz:.er and the iwo men, the def endants? 'A’. Right
at the entrance, there is a 'table, and at that table I was sitting
when the conversation with the deceased and the #wo Prisoners
took place'.

Q How long a time was it when the glaz:r.er came in first and the
time he got tlrough W‘.'L’bh his work? A. About a half an hour;

Q And that 1ncludes the 1nterva1 at the time t.ha'b heewas absent
for ~bhe pPane of glass th at he brought back? A. Yes, sir;

it might be 1nc1uded. ‘ -

6 What did Komgsberger say when the glazier got through and

asked for his money? A. Konigsberger then said that 65 cents

(28) ==
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was enough for his work.
é The glazier =did the glagzgier say anything before that?
Ao Noﬁxing that I know of - he didn't say anything.

B Did you hear Konigsberger say anything to Langenheine?

A. No, sir; I didn't hear anything.

Q Did you see Konigsberger do anything with the pis+ol?

A,. I did not‘. —

é gzou first atbtention was drawn to the pistol when you saw it on
top of the bar? A‘. ;fes, sir; +that was the first time I noticed

the revolver.

Q Did you notice who put the revolver on top of the bar?

AIA I didn'l‘b notice anything about.-i'b orbefore my attention vwms
m = bn:Lng rlveted to the knife that Langenheine had and was
brmd:.sh:!.ng-

.

Q What kind of a kn:n.fe was 1it? A, Itwas a long knife which

is used in cutting bread-

’ -

Q@ Was it a carving knife? A. Yes, sir; i+t was a kind of a

al
carving knife,was used in that restaursnt for cuti ting bread.

Q@ When Langenheine said to Goldsmith that he would cut his throat
unless he +ook s1xty—f1ve cents, what did Goldsmith say +to that?

v -

The glaz:.er took that as a joke and was Wardlng of f the at—

'bemp'bs of the approach of the knife and laughed. =

Q D:.d you see Langenheine take the kmife down and take the p:.s*bol
UP? A. I didn't not1ce 'bhat - I didn't see him put away the
_laufe and take the pa.s‘bol.

'Q ‘Do you know- Wheﬂ’xer or not Konigsberger handecL the -pi s’ool to
Langenheine or not? A. I didn't see ‘bhat-

Q How long was :|.t between the time +hat ¥y ou f1rst saw 't-h::.s PJ.S"

‘tol in Langenhe:.ne s hands un'bll the shot went off? A. Several

ma.nutes. : .
' (29)




Q- | Be'b)veen the 'b:Lme that you first saw the p:r.s’ool in Langenheine'®s

hand u:nt:.l the shot was fired? A. Yes, sire.

Q" What d::_d you hear Konigsberger say, if you heard any“bhlng- sald
by him at the time Langenheine had the pn.s'bol in his hand? A. I
cammot tell that I heard Konigsberger at that time say anyth:r.ng,

the \vhole proceedlngs there seemed +o be too stupid to dbserve any

at.'ben‘blon. _ A
Q_ Was your back to the people that were there at the time?

A. I was in the yard several times during their quarrels.
Q_ When you heard +the shot did you turn yaur face towards Komgs—

berger and Langenhelne" A. Then when I heard the report I had

my face turned to them.
. é Where was Konigsberger then? A‘. Konigsberger was behind

the bar at that time‘.

Q- mt did he say‘s; AI.' When the man fell Kon:,gsberger exclalm-

)

ed, "He is dead, he is dead " and made a sad face.

- - —~— " >

Q Is 't.hat all he did? A. ‘I!ha'b is all ’that I can remember +tha+t

he saud.

.

Q Wha t did Langenheine say 11gh'b after the shooting? A. Lan-

genheine 1an away to the door.

s -

Q Did he run or did he walk? A, He ran awaye.

Q And was that directly af ter the shot was fired or just a mo- :
s

ment or so? A, About a half a minute may have elapsed from 'bhe
time of the shooting and his ruming away.
Q Did you see what he did with the pistol? A’.' Yo, sir:
_Di‘dggguhs_s_ee_;bhe Pistol after the shoota.ng occurred? .
No, sir; I didn't see the Pistol.

How far Were you from Langenhe:me when the shot was fired -

A Y

";whcn the shot was fired? About three steps, I stood from h:.m




P

Q Tha'b Would be how much, nine fee'b" A. About from?7 to 8

.

- feet was -bhe distance between us.
Q _Tell me what Goldsmith said, I want the language used by Gold-
smiﬂx at any 'b:r.me he had a conversation between Konigsberger and
Langénhei‘ne‘? A. He had fixed there, I think, four panes of
glass and he then :i.ns:l.sted that for the labor bestowed on that Job

a dollar a.nd five cents was not much, that is all I can recollect

7’

that Goldsmli’n saide.

Q When Langenheine sa:v.d take that f:.fty-flve en'bs or I will cut
Your throat did Goldsm1 uh say anything then? A. Goldsmi thtrd ed
to evade, to parry, ‘bo ward off any approach with the knife and

L 4~

Had Langenhe:.ne approachea Goldsmith getting towards him with
the kn:x.fe in his hand? _ A. _ Langenheme was stending right in
fron'b of Goldsm:.th having the back of the knlfe or -thedull side of
it turned t.o ‘him when he was over his Jokes with the man —mhe had
“the dull or the back side of the knife turned +to the man/ ‘

BY A JUROR'

Q The wi ~tness has said to the best of his lqmwledge, he didn't
exac-bly say tha'b.

) The C.oroneré The in'berpr eter may repeat i’c;-
A. Langenheine was standing in front of Goldsmith when he played
W:l.'bh tha t km_fe, hav:.ng as I think the back side turned towards the

man.

Qs Dld he advance towa rds Goldsma.th a step or not, or d1d he make

e thrust" At_., He. s—tood near Goldsml“bh brandlsh:.ng‘ :l.'t..

Q Take that knife and show how far he held that knife; dillustrate

ﬂxe pos:taon’ now take it and show how he joked with the glazier;t-’

¥

fsl)




The wi tness now takes the knife and

111ustra-bes the actnon of Langenheine at the

rs

-blme of the occurrences

s

He took the glazier by the head or hair, did he? . A, yess

by his head and by his shoulder.
‘Did he br1ng' the knife near to his neck‘> A'. Not qui te near‘.
Withdn an inch or two? A. I cammot tell that exactly
Did Goldsmith back away - did he retreat? A, « Goldsm::.th
W«grmagwg,%qpmlgughlng, an_d__g:?"f;he _same time taklnp; it to be
a jokee
é What did Konigsberger say when Langenheine was do:l.ng; this knife

bus:l.ness ~ this knife performance on Goldsm:.th? A. _I camodb
'bell. » ‘

Q Did you hear him make an exclama'blon or remark? A.. I did no*l;.
é D1d you see Langenhe:.ne put that kn:l.fe down af ter tha'bfth:.ng
was thr ough? The ::.nc:.den'b that you have now deswpibed?
AI.‘ I didn't see 1'b-

v

Q Your attention then was nex+t drawn to -bhat shot? A, Yes, s:.r,
Qhen my a titention was at:tracted to the report of the pis tol. )
Q How far was Langenheine from the place where the plsi:ol rested
at the time he was using the knife? A. About 6 or 7 feet was
the distancelo |

Q What position was Langenheine in when the shot was fi red was
he in the same position as he stood When he used the knife or when
he wa.lked over towards the door? A. When the shooting had
'l'aken place Langgnh@_,looked 'baken aback,

Q I want to know what he did; not. about his express:n.on or his

looks; I want to lmow the posrba.on he was in at +the ta.me?

(32)




'Af.-: when the shoot:.ng took place Langenhe:.ne was not in the same

74

place Where he had been brand:Lsh::.ng the lma.fe, he had W:Lﬂadram.

Q ' How many fee‘b? . A. I cannot tell exac'bly, perhaps several

fee'b. ,
Q ‘ Would that several feet be five feetd or six fee A. Bebtween

Pl

2 1/2 and 3. fee'b, the distance might hsive been.
BY A JUROR. )

Q Were_ you a guest there? A, I was merely a guest there, I

s

was not working therece

.

Q Did you see the glaz:.er doing the work there? A. I xxx se.w
abouﬂ%half of the Wcrk.

Q Did you notice the size of the glass there? A, Itwas a
little larger thah that there; it we.s larger than that pane here
they fve:;re W:i.derl'. .
By the COronei'é-

d About how me.ny inches wide ivere they? A‘. There were two
kinds of panes, some side panes and front panes, the side panes

were narrower than the front panes.

Q When you came . in which way d:.d you sit Us with your face towards
the kitchen or towards the W:Lndow? A. Towa.rds the entrance.

Q Have you been in the habit of coming in there taking your

’

meals‘? A. I usually ate theree

By Mz Fnend :

s

Q - What time did you getl there that morming? A. Between nine
- and ‘ten o'clock.

’

' Q”‘_ W&S KCm:i.gsberger 't.here then? A. Yeg’ SiTe

_Qi"' Did vo.u._staze theres xxgggb that morning un'tn.l the glazier came
in?Ao Yes ,' Slro

Q And Komgsbexger was there a11 the tame, was he not? FA'. No,

311‘, .- he went out..

Ess)
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g upon the deceased Mr- Goldsmi h? A. he took h:r.m this way slap.-
¥
"5: «p:.nig\ him on the back and saying that 65 cen'bsw-wa:s "SR o0 gﬁ,' come

" Q Up to -t,he time t,ha'b he went. out W:Lth the glaz:.er he rema.1ned a‘b

his place of bus:ness, is. tha’o true? A. U p to the moment he

- went out w1'bh the glaz:.er he was in the room.

Q 'And a-btended +to his bus:.ness, did he? A. Yes, sir, in the
ki'bchen and in the restauran'b.
‘é . And he d:.d geese 2 good deal of business that mormng, did he

not? A.~ ‘ There were no guests there, there was not much to doe

Q After the glaz1er came back and Konigsberger came back and +the
poor glazier had finished putting 1n the glass d1d you see Konigs‘-
_berger come from behind the bar? A. Yes, sire.

d . Show me or show the Cour+t and Jury how Komgsberger placed his
hands on ’che glam er when he was foollng w1th him?

. ObJec‘bed ‘ED.

é Did you see Komgsberger put hi s hands on Goldsmi th? Al. "Yes,
sir, he was fool:mg with him. |

Q Now, I w:x.ll be the dead- glazier, you are Komgsberger, now show

me and show the Jury how Komgsberger placed his hands in fool:mg

e Ay

e 8
e e, £ 5 e s ek

- along, com;a:}_ggg,w 85 cents._is.. -enough.

e S - LR e e

Q After you noticed the revolver on the counter, did you see
Konigsberger hand 'Ehe revolver‘from the bar to Langenheine?
Al. - No, sirly -

Did you see La.ngenheme take the revolver from the bar?

No, sir.

‘But you did see the revolver in the hands of Lang-enheme?

.

*Yss,“‘ir-

L Q Now, show me what posi t:.on Langenhelne held +the revolver at

the time the shot was f:.red" A. If I am right he was hold:z.ng
"l'he revolver in his rlgh'b hand and wszs brand:.shlng' it this Way.




s

_‘Q, And how close to the head of the deceased? ~A. I cammot tell

-exac'bly, bu-b it was the way I showed 1'b.

BY MR. LYNN -
Q : th.t ranark Was Langenheine us:.ng at the time he was brandish-

.

-=ng 1t. Lhu.s way? _'.A.' He said, "Take 65 cents or I w:.ll shoot -

you d ea.d.

Q How soon after you heard Langenheine say that, did you hear the

report of the I‘evolver“’ A. I cannot 'bel]..

.

Was it a s-econd? ‘ ‘A. I camot 'bell.

‘}ou know whether it was an hour, don't you? A. I camot tell.

You saw La:ngenhe:lne fool vi th the deceased you say? A. Yes,

sir, I saw that.
Q And d1d you see Langenhe:.ne thrust his hand upon +the person of
the deceased before the shot was f:u-ed" A. With the k:n:.fe.

BY MR. MOSS'

-

Q What par-b of the conversation was it that you first saw the re-
volver? A. About when he was foollng with the ln'ufe, I noti ced
’che revolver.

Q When Langenheine was fooling with the knife you saw the revol-

’ - N

iying on the counter? A. ies, sir.
é How far away from that revolver was the man Konigsberger at the
tme you saw Langenheine fool1ng with the knife? A. About one
fqp'b.
C; Was he behind the bar? A.. ifes, sir..
Q, Wha‘b did you see Langenheine do after he laid the knife down?
-%'- _ T didn’ t see Langenheine lay down the knife.
Q . After he was through fool1ng with the knlfe in which direction

fram the ba:r did he Walk? A. I camot 'bell.'
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‘Al ) No, sir;

‘on the bar.

Did jrou see him take a few steps away you sa:.d?
Tha-b was af-ber the shoot:.ng.
After he was foolzng wi th the knife what next did you see Lan-

genhe:me do" A. I camot 'bell._

Q Were you look:ing at him - were you not looking a+ him?

the whole proceedlng seemed to0 me too redluulous,

and I didn* b pay much attentlon.
Q How long a time elapsed between the time of the fooling with

’

the knife and the-time. of the sho+? Al I 28 camot tell the

exact timee

BY MR. LYNN;-

d : Iﬂ the ﬁgifé shown to you now similar in any respect to bhe
one you saW'1n Langenhexne 8 hands that day - 1s it in any way

81m11ar to the one spoken of upon that day’ A. No, =sir; it is

not s1m11ar.
Q» Was 1t larger or smaller than that knife? A, It was much
larger and also stouter built.

Q éas it pointed around or round at the edge? A. It was round-

ed at the edge; - it was a bread knife.

0 This knife is a foot in length - the other one was bigger?
A; Yes, sir; it was much larger and of a stronger make.
BY MR. HAGEMAN : -

Q Just describe if you will where you sat at the time of this

~Jok1ng as you term it between the glazier, Konig ;sberger and Langen—
'helre9 , A,, At that time I was not sitting, I was standing.

VQ “Where did you stand9 A, I had left the room and went to the

water closet and comlng back I stood in different places.

) At the time that Langenhelre had this so called knife did you

See a revolver on the counter or behlrd the bar9 A, I saw it




Who put that there, did you see anybody put it there?

Q
A. . No, sir; .I didn't see that.
Q

: State to the Court and Junaggggzyou were here as one of the
‘witnesses before Coroner Levy on the day of the arrest of theseﬁde-
fendants, when they were brought before Coroner Levy? Al ‘T was
present here. |
Before Coroner Levy? A. That I cammot tell exactly.
Well, before one of the judges or coroners? A, Yes, sir.
Were you not placed uvon the stand and sworn unon that day?
My name was taken here and a pledge report here.
Did you see officer Bissert here that day? A. Yes, sire.
Will you kindly state whether you did not say in the presence
 of>Cordner Levy that Konigsberger +told or gave the revolver tc Lan-
gerheine and told him to shoot this man? A, Not that I know of.
é Is your memory of the last week as good as it has heretofore
beené Al It is not weaker now.
By the Coroner:-
Q It is just as good now? A, Yes, sir.
BY MR. HAGEMAN:-
Q You positively swear yvou did not make tha+t assertion here that

Konigsberger handed the revolvwer to Largenheine and said to Lange=n

heine to shoot this man? A. No, sir.




D

VICTOR MOLNAR, duly sworn:

I live No. 255 Jay Street, Brooklyn.
BY THE CORONFR:-
Q what is yoUr'buéiness? A. I am in the resiéurant business
;gnd_work as a waiter most of the time.
.é " .Did you see the alléged éhdotjhg take place on the 12th of
February, at No. 168 FRast Houston Street? Al Yes, sir.
Q ;ell the Jury what vou saw on thst day and what you heaxd of
yvour own persomal knowledge? A. I entered the vrlace No. 188"
Fast Houston Street, New York, about guarter past eleven ?'clock
in the morning, or the 12th of February, 1891. I sat at the table
and ordered a cup of ceffee of the mun, of the waiter there ard
had it placed in front of me; ealmost dmnediastely ard as socon as
I had the cup placed.in front of me my eyes struck Langenheine;
I noticed Langenheine standing in frdnt of a glazier, the man in
question, holding a pistol in his hand into the man's left cye -
into the glazier's left eye; I thouéht it was about time to leave
the place then; I did not touch my coffee; I got up to leave the
place, and while 1 walked, I don't +think I +took the first step I
heard the snap of the revolver and after the snap a report; not
leaving my eyes off the revolver. The man that stood in front of
Langenheine against the window dropped, I suppose dead-:
Q That was the glazier? A. Yes, sir; at that time Langenhine
paésed out of the place in front of me and I followed him on the

streete.

Q Did he run out after the shot was fired? Al sir; he

g ST T

wa lked oulbs
e

Q Quickly or slow? A. A general gait anyone would walk on
the street; I followed him through Houston into Second Averue,

crossing Second Avenue into First Street, crossing the Bowery,




into Bleecker Street, and then when I seen him take this way I
thought he would go and deliver himself up in vnolice headquarters;

- -

he crossed Mulberry Street on Bleecker axxd thei I couldn't do any

other way than to call the first officer; I met Officer Carson of
L A e D

2z
the 10th Precinct, I called him WithNhﬁm ard pointed teo Langenheine

with my right ard teld the officer he shot a man; +he officer took

Langerheine and myself down o the 10th Precinct.

BY MR. LYNN:~

Q What did Langenheine say? A. He admitted the shooting.

Q What did he say? Al It was &11 focling, it was 21l playing,

he said.

Q Go on? A. He went tc the station house on Mulbervy Street
and from there ihe detective of thut station house and myself want
over to Houston Street ayrain o the place where the shcecoting oc-
curred in. Konigsberiser and the other witnesses had been +aken
away from the place already before and the detective of +the 10+h
Precinct and myself went to ihe station heouse on Bth Street.

There I stated that I had seen the shooting and 1 wes held there

until Coroner Levy opened his Court and I had to pledge my word

to appear at the inquest.

BY THE COROMER:-

0 pid you make a statement to Coroner Levy +that day?

A, No, sir, 1 did not.

BY MR. LYNN:-

Q what time did you get bhere that day first? A. About a
quarter past eleven 0 the best of my knowledge.

Q Was the glazier there? A. The glazier was there holding

a rule in his hand, holding a rule in his hand and smoking a pipe;

..




He was smoking a pipe at the time.
0 what directed yvour atbtention to the glazier? A. The ¢lagier
to mymknowledge was silent; he didn't make any remark, he ohly‘
smoked .
Q Anything about prices that day? Al No, sir.
Q gow near was Langenheine to the glasier when you went
AN
A. When I went in 1 didn't notice Lansenheine, octdy—ism
after 1 ot liught I neoticed Lanmgenheine standing in fron+t
Glaziexr.

0 Anything jir his hea:d? Al I saw the revolver in Langenhegines

hands.

Q. You know nothing about any knife incident that happened that
day?  A. I didn't see it-
Q What did you hear Langenheine say when vour attention was calléd
0 the revolver?  A. Lanuerheine said to Geldsmith, "Now, I will
sh00£ you dead.®
Q nid you hear Konigsberger — what did you hear Konigsbexger say
before thaté A. T didn't hear him say a word.
Q You cidn't see Langpenheine teake the revolver fram any Dlaceé
A, No, sirs; at the time I noticed him with the revolver he stood
in front of Goldsmith.
yow far in front? A, Directly in front of Goldsmith.
How close - did they touch one another? A, Not exactly.
Could they extend their hards ard touch one another?
Yes, sir.
Near enough to reach out and touch each other with their hands?
Yes, sir.
was the glazier smoking his pipe then?  A. 7 sir.
And his rule in his herd? A. Yes, sir; ind of leaning

against.the'window.
3 .




Q 'Did you hear Goldsmith, the glagier sdy anything? A. I have
not heard Goldsmith say a word.

fQ " And the first thing you heard was what Langenheine_said?

A.. What, Langenheine said, "Now I will shcecot vou deaa;“ he said
it in German. .

d‘ You were looking at them then? A, That attracted my atten—
tion more than anythings else.

0 And vou saw the revolvsr? A; Zes, sir.

Q Langehheine had a revolver in «ee hand? A. In his right
“hand.

0 And he had it pointed at whem? A. At the glazier's head in

!

position of the left eye.

O .

wow close to his eye was that revolver? Al Probably an

1
Q
o

What was Langenheine doing with his left hand, if arnything?

It was hanging - he did nothing with that.

By his side? Al ves -
Where was konigsberier then? A. Rehind the counter.
This all followed within a fewv seconds after vou came in?

I was not in the mlace more than a minute ard & half.

You cen walk a whole block in a minute? A. Yes .

i
Q
A
Q
0
Q
A
Q
0

Commence to0 ccunt now and bezin o count now - about how
it was you noticed this thing ?
The witness now counts +the interval
_ .elapsed;
A. This would be ahout long enough.
0] That is just thirty seconds; it is a half a minute. Konigs -
berger was behind the bar how far was Langenheine away from the

ba r? A About 4 or 5 feet.




=0

o o

izd ' ﬁhét did Konigsbergef say after the shooting? A. T was no+t
in the place after the shooting; I walked right after Langenheine ;
-.i Was in the act of geing amt following Langerhéine.
‘é, Did you loock at Konigsberger? A, No, sir; my attention
was drawn to the meam that did the shooting.
d Yoﬁ didn't hear Konigsberger say anythingé A I didn't hear
him say a word.
Q You followed right immediately after?  A. Yes, sir.
Q And yvou were about going out when this thinﬂ‘occurrai?
A.~.Vies, sir.
BY A JUROR:-
é Have you ever been in that nlace beforeé AL Hot that I know
of.

BY A JUROR:-—

ol
Q'+ What were they doing when iééy came in there? A, When I

first got in there I couldn't see anything; comins from the street
into & basement that is not 1it up your eyes is blinded; mine was
blinded at the time.

d %ell me what condition that Konigsberger and Langonhe ine was
at the time, sober or drunk? A, I was not in the place long

enough to notice it.

0 You formed no opinion as to +their condition?

0 NMOYr are you able 1o state now? A. Mo, sir.

Q Did Langenheine show any signs of intbxication at the time the

'.Aalpdiicg&&24§°°k him? _..As No, sir, he seemed perfectly sober.

BY MR. FRIEND:- : e N

ST ey '
N A A e R At A

Q Did you see him hand the pistol down? A. No, sir.

Q@ wyad he dropped it?  A. No, sir.




Q' Hear him drop it?’

MR. HAGEMAMN: My client prefers to take the stard and
testify.
THR 0ORONFR: (To the prisoner Langenheine) I understand

that you want to take the stand and make a siate-

ment, voluntarily on vour own part?

The witness desires to testify in spite
of the admonition of the Coroner that whatever he
may testify to may be used against him at the Court

below.

FRANCIS NEKARDA, duly sworn; to interpret the testi-

‘mony of Wiliiam Langerheine, one of +the prisonerse.

WILLIAM LANGENHEINE, duly sworn:
BY THE CORONER:-
RXXXWRerexXdRXXERX I X elxx The prisoner after further consulta—
tion with his lawyerdecides not +o testify at

the inquest.

The Coroner: I will now ask counsel who represents
Mr. Konigsberier whether his client desires to take
the stand ?

MR. MOSS: No, sir, he wil} not take the stard.

3




The Coroner: Gentlemen of the Jury: You have heard the

testimony of Deputy Cororer Donlin on the last dayvy
of the exalrlinaﬂion snd the Jury will please give
this case their most earnest cons ideration; and whn
you retire to frame your verdict I would ask you to

consider the evidence of the witnesses very warefully

1 .
Lt A PR

as you have sworn to do when vou took vour seats

I
v‘&-?-w.‘ %

here as jurors, and bring in a verdict in accordance

with the evidence before you.

000 m




and ajided and

from a pistol shot

by William Langeheine,

Goldsmith.

at 168 East Houwston Street
infl

the wvndersigned jurors find that Morris Goldg-
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wmi th came 10 his death on the 12th day of February
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Court of General Scessions of the @eate

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

THE PrROoPLE OF THE STATE oF NEW YORK

against

Zhre Grand Inry of the City and County of Aew Work, by this indictment,

accuse RIA oK ar WMQ\&’\_Ji e B,

of the CrIME oF FMurder in the Fivst Begrer, committed as follows:

The s2id R = o0 S o . > _~ LSS m

late of the City of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on thew

day of LM%in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and

T .. s s . =
= »at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms, in and upon one

Ww)in the peace of the said People then and there being,

wilfully, feloniously, and oMmalice aforethought, did make an assault, and the said

RS s P> \S.SS\LW)a, certain pistol then and there charged and
loaded with gunpowder and one leaden bullet, which said pistol the said Ao rIsrar
o Sl N ,.33\‘ S in B e right handsthen and there had and held,
to, at, against, and upon the said ~ G~ >

then and there feloniously, wilfully, and ome.:n. malice aforethought, did shoot off and
‘discharge, and the said . S e o - Do ro - 2 SIS SmS S ] —

with the leaden bullet éforesaid, out of the pistol aforesaid, then and tliere by force of the
gunpowder aforesaid, shot off, sent forth and discharged, as aforesaid, S e——>_. ,thé said
e — e — in and upon the e s o>, of Rcue o
the saild — <~~~ F= , —— then and there feloniously, wilfully, and of
J%..;\_. malice a,forethought, did strike, penetrate and wound, giving to Sl R

the said — T N s S then and there, with the leaden bullet

aforesaid, so as aforesaid discharged, sent forth and shot out of the pistol aforesaid, by the




-

said S XD e M.A,QMJ in and upon the R 2N of

the said — S ~ one mortal wound of the breadth of

one inch, and of the depth of six inches, of which said mortal wound , the

S Tt

P v o P o A ™

Aud so the Grand Jury atoresaid do say: That the said
RS oD nrms oA T IENSS e e e

-~

the said e N SV in the manner and form, and by
the means aforesaid, wiltully, feloniously, and of &N malice aforethought, did kill

and murder, against the form of the Statute in such case made and provided, and against

the peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

SECOND COUNT—

and the Grand Jmry atoresaid. by this indictment, further accuse

the said M’ ’\ ;_M o.,,_.}\,

of the same CRrRiMEk oF 3INurder in the Fivst Degree, committed as follows:

The saidSR R o D ara i W . W

Iate of the City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: on the said w

‘_;

d‘ty of

M in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and

eighfy ™~ “==— _at the City and County aforesnid, with force and arms, in and upon the

saidwwx\,) in the peace of the said People then and there

being, wilfully, feloniously, and with a deliberate and i)reme(litated design to effect

the death of the said ~—<~e_——r—r~ — did make an assault, and the said




<= e S 3 —~ A L S ol a certain pistol then and there charged and

loaded with gunpowder and one leaden bullet, which said pistol the snid SRS M _orar

o e A SS o e in S D e right handsthen and there had and held
to, at, against, and upon the said TE -~~~ ~T=

then and there feloniously, wilfully, and with a deliberate and premeditated design

to effect the death of the said —— "~ C—c—s—r s did shoot off and
discharge. and the said Y2 o e~ ——a. S S™NLSS ST —

with the leaden bullet aforesaid, out of the pistol aforesaid, then and there by force of the
gunpowder aforesaid, shot off, sent forth, and discharged, as aforesaid,%;m the said

N — e S in and upon' the R oo of St
the sald TG~ . then and there feloniously, wilfully, and with

a deliberate and:Premeditated design to effect the death of the said S ~r—>Srs R

~

i i—— did strike, penetrate, and wound, giving to Scm

the sald — TN S, then and there, with the leaden bulleT

aforesaid, so as aforesaid discharged, sent forth, and shot out of the pistol aforesaid, by thep
ERRTE I S AP PR Wl W, \. N »in and upon the R mem ot

the said T T N~ e S — one mortal wound of the breadth

X\-‘ﬁ the

of one inch, and of the depth of six inches, of whiclh said mortal wound

said T T e _ at-thre-City—omrd-County-aferesnidy

MMMM-

Aud so the Grand Jary atoresaid do say: That the said

the said B e WPy W —— —— iIn the manner and form, and by

the m=ans aforesaid, wilfully, feloniously, and with a deliberate and premeditated design to

effect the death of the said T~ ~——a—~" . did kill, and

murder, against the form of the Statute in such made and provided, and against the peace

of the :ople of the State of New York and their dignity.

District Attorney.
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o District Lolice Goant.

STATE OF NEW YORK,
CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK,

oiéNumber /W é;/W‘ gq} W bemO' duly sworn,
Ble ocen S ceez e fod.w_g PN Wl

deposes and says/‘ hat on the .day of

City of New York, in the County of New York

7

may be dealt thh accordmo-
Sworn to 6.»; ore me, LhTs M

e 7@@%{

Polzce Sastice. T




POOR QUALITY |}

STATE OF NEW YORK, }g\. @(

CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK,

of No. /%\/ A s ASFAE % L being duly sworn, deposes and says,
-~
that on the... / e R 2 day of ... %%/O lsf/nt the city of

New York, in the County of New York,

P

et T Al ol %@-m/ % ................ B _

Seyy ot 2.0/29 t.0mg

‘_,4%@ ,




NovL -

A

2

WREEr e, R

CITY AND COUNTY | __
OF NEW YORK, ;’ S8

I S Street, being duly sworn deposes and
says, that$he has heard read the foregoing affidavit of. &MW

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of depouents’ own

knowledge.

'I
Sworn to before me, this _ é ) .
Ay ) Fopelie H

day of .

1Police Justice.




TR Ger10g e

. Answer...

Sec. 198—200. f District Police Court..
CITY AND COUNTY 13 ss
OF NEW YORK, )

Cte %no‘ duly examined .before the under-
signed a,ccordlng to law, on the ’mnnexed. charge; and belnn'glnfmmed that it is h g ﬁlght to

malke a statement in ralation to the charge against h that the statement is designed to
enable h Xxf he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against ©h V
that he I e

liberty to waive making a statement, and that h ‘ waiver cannot be us

against h \ tn the trial.

— . Question. . What is your name ?.

e Question.  How old are you ?.

Question. e whre you b ?

Answer. / (/\.,

. Question. Where do you llve. and how ]ono' have you 1e51d¢=d there ?

___Answer. / C/ &l @/C OIM
... Queslion. "What is yoyr business or profession 7 '

~ {197,.929@'._ %&W

_Rueestion. Give.any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances

appearing in the
testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your
.. exculpation?
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It appeari .*vg" to me by the within depositions and statements that the crime therein mentioned has beer.

committed, and that there is sufficient cawse to beliey, the within narned"

he be Reeld to answer e same and e’ be admitted {o bail in the suny of

and be committed to the Warden and Keeper of

‘..'._...__H'undred Dollars,

the C'zty I’ri.;;an_, of the City of New T orkc, until - he i swch bail. ’
Deated %L %17 / Z 18?/ % / /yg 2oli

I have admilted the above-named

2o bail to answer by the undertaking Jereto annexed.

8 . Police Justice.

Dated

N~

There being no swfficient cawse to believe the within named:

' ) g“uilty of the offence within mentioned. I order h to be discharged.

Police Justice.

Dated.....
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Meeting Room for Socicties, Private Parties, &c.

LINCOLN HALL.
SALOON,
ine Cigars, &c.,
138 LupLow STREET,

- Wines, Liquors & Lager Beer 1~

r

g %7“/ .

Near Rivington Streot,
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Gourt of General Sessions of the Brace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE oF NEW YORE

againsit

The Grand Jury ofthe City and County of New York, by this indictment, accuse

of the Criyz oF ABDUCTION, committed as follows:

The said QS\“NMW M —_—

late of the City of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the

) day of — M » = in the year of our Loid one

thousand eight hundred and ei - . - at the City and County aforesaid, did
=] o

[~ N . : -
feloniously take, receive, harbor,\employ and-ase one o o@«i—&. M
2

who was then and there a female under the age of sixteen years. to wit: of the age of

_MW — Years, for the purpose of sexual intercourse, he, the
said  ONS mc_ 2a o S e s, not being then and there
the husband of the said e Ol T e D, . N

against the form of the Statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of

the People of the State of New York and their dignity. )
% DX—@——\W »

District Attorney.




BOX:
438

FOLDER:
4035

DESCRIPTION:

Kopp, William

DATE:

05/05/91

i
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Police Court_ ” District. Affidavit—Larceny.

Gity and Gounty _g} . | (2
of Pew Yok, : Dt et 6%;/{ /@»M
— ; <
o Sto. &4/ S o S LT Sirest, age Jears,

occupation /(C7 A A < . being dwly sworn,
7 [ “
deposes and says, that on the ”‘7 day of. 7 7. L/( 189 / at the Gity of Hew ZHork,

in the %’ounty zy" Hew Zork, was ﬂ]onznus{/ taken, stolen and carried Qrway from the possession of deponent, in

tﬁa} / Ziime, the fgg’{i/é property,
Dz /( /é;_,,/ F VL// //%/ F 7

the property of-

and that this deponent

has a prodable cawse to swspect, and does suspect, that the said property was jeloniously taken, stolen and
carried QWM% M‘ S Dt gy R /,/ > T
/4/(/% M// ﬂ/ //( 7

ot

Tty e R €O «//pu ~¢< , Co .
‘Wﬂ/fﬂ/ﬁgﬂ// A Ll
. 7” L S S S
/ A e /4/ el /f,/z/? e //C/ A /c/
< @@(/V—C/K ‘%( é,;——t_///( \

%MWV‘-A_ /—y—./b '_/a—f" /zd _—-ﬁ %A«A/(Mkr
M@t———t/ /V/ ﬂ/-—////// 'Wc/r/v («
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CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK,

'g”duly sworn, depeses and
N B N v A 7

says, that he has heard read the foregoing affidavit of -

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponent’s own

knowledge.

Sworn to bcf%

i

/'

é}/ / Q//' é/ = T g

Police Justice.

4 IEA T AT £ R TRV S Tarkr 2 L s Tor i ain - m v ol 0 T DT i b R T




Sec. 198—200° : . District Police Court.

D COUNTY )
> ,3 ) . : )

/ . A/C/\being duly examined before the “andex-
signed according to law, on the annegced/charge; and being informed that it is right to
make a statement in relation to the charge against h é—,,;'tha,t the statement is designed to,
enable h Q,___ if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h

that The is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h%iver cannot be used
against h él,__, on the trial. »

- Question.. N h

o

Answer. -

N Question.
... Answer.
_.._ Question.
. Amswer.
. - )
_ Question. W e« have you resided there ? ) L
__Question. What is : L :

o Question.  Give any explanation you may thinkK proper of the circumstances appearing. in the
testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your
_ exculpation?

F501) ut 0.40,2q uAYD],
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It appearing to me by the within depositions and statements that the crime therein mention'elimn-—-—j
—\*.

a 4

b.g_ﬂ‘éi}?)bﬂgitted, and that there is sufficient cause to belicve the within nanve
=y =
———aiep —

be admitted to bail in the swum of .

3%] order that  he be Rveld to answer the same and  he
: Hundred. Dollars, and -be committed to the Wardern and Keeper of

the City Prison, opthe City of :N'ezu York, until | SiveSuch bail.
Dated O//Kﬁ?// bt 187"

NS

I have admitted the above-narved

to bail to answer by the undertaking hereto annexed.

Police JTustice.

.bate(l : 78

There being no sufficient cawse to Lelieve the within named

g‘uiltg'/ of the offence within mentioned. to be dischargdged.

Police Juwstice.




COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS OF THE PEACE, OF THE CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK.

- P

Tur PEGPLE oF Tk StoteE oF NEW YORK,
RN e

against

2
AN

: Ty & ;
a, . Oy
>

s
e T e A N

v

THE GRAND JURY or TI—IE CITYn A’\TD COUN TY OVT

“this 1ﬁélc%ment accuse

ME "‘ . . ) L& B .l: ok
ommitted as follows: :
The said M_W/ W o

late of the f N ew Yorlk, in the County ot New Y01k aforesaid, on the é?};(/
in_ the 3é'u' of ou1' Liord one thous'uld eight hundred and
o712 -, at the /Qlt,y and. County aforesaid, with force and arms, in the

‘;‘;g/ _time of the same day, divers plomlssory notes for the payment of money, being
and there due and unsatistied (and of the kind known as United States Treasury

Notes), of a number and denomination/to tle Grand Jury aforesaid unknown, for the

“DEGREE,

FPUp, «2payment of and of the value of

dollars ; divers other promissory not k ment of money, being then and there due
and unsatisfied (and of the kind known as B‘Lnk Notes), of a number and denomination
to” the Grand Jury aforesaid uryéoxtv or the payment of and of the value of

dollars ; divers United Sta,tes Si " ; agumber and denomination to the Grand
Jury a.foregéjd "ilgkhb{vn, of t ;

i

dollars ; divers coins of a numper, kind and d

of the goods,, chattels 'Llld personql property of one . -
Mg %W é)\gﬁov -~ then and there bemrr found,

= 7
qf:na there feloniously did s tfx,ke and carry y, against the form of the

Statute in such case made and prov1ded, and against the peace of the People of the State

of New York and their dignity. ]
DE L,"..”‘FY N'CO
JOFNR::--F

————

District Atlorney.




BOX:
438

FOLDER:
4035

DESCRIPTION:

Kramer, Joseph

DATE:
05/12/91

M

4035
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0"’:!/ and C’owntg/
of New York,

I T — years,

occupation ........2L0z= - =2 L. Al 3. DEIRG Auly sworn, deposes and says,
that on the 2z 1887 2, at the City of New
York, in the County of Ne'w York,. 72 . W /—/3—-—

s Seie :ﬁ%

/‘/%—M" dan 22X 5T o - 2 -
= W%‘MZ : MW A N
‘ ; PZ = z//n,;,m@/- = B




8 District Police Court.

y y being duly examined before the wunder-
signed according to law, on the annexed charge ; and being informed that it is h ~—= right to
make a statement in relation to the charge a‘v.:unst h £z« ; that the statement is designed to
enable h Lz« if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against he-z

that The is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that I’ waiver cannot be used

against h (/L/L on the trial.

_Question.

_Answer.—-

. Q?e@.é?'é?,l.:. _ WheTeswere you born %
Answer.

Question. Where do you live, and how long have you resided there ?

awer S0 Nl e o Py B2y e

Question. What is your business or profession ?

Answer. (ST A e~

_Question. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
T testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your

exculpamon ?
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Luilty thereof, I order that Qe be Iteld to answer the same and

Hundred Dollars

the City Prison, of the City of New York, wntil

be admitted to bail in the swm of

to the Warden and Keeper of

Police Justice.

18

Dated.

I have admitted the above-named

to bail to answer by tlhe undertaszng‘ Jeereto annexéd.

Police Jwstice.

8

Dated

Thére being no sufficient cawse to Lelieve the within named

- . - Suilty of the offence within meentioned. I order

e to be discharged.

Police Jiestice,

. 18

\ Datzd.. -
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: Facts in the case of Jeseph Katz, alias Kramer,
+ Wwho pleaded guilty to the charge of Perjury, November 24th,
1890, and was -sentenced to0 semen years State Prison.

. On the afternoon of Juiy 29th, 1890 an inceddiary fire
started by means of hladders filled with benziné was dis-
covered ‘in the -apartment. of Solomon and Hannah Warshaw, 114

- Willett Street; in this City. The Warshaws were arrested.
A full account of the circumstances attending the fire was
published in the next morning?s papers. On that day July §
30th, the prisoner Katz or Kramer, volunteered a statement ar <
@@ the Fire Marshal’s bureag to the effect that on the day
of the fire about nine o’clod® in the moraing he was stand-
ing on the corner of Houston and Willett Streets, when he
‘was approached by a woman, whom he afterwards identified as
Hannah Warshawe. She asked him to get her three bladders,
giving him fifty cents for that purpose. He went to the
;i slaughter house of Schwartzchild and Sulzberger, on First
. Avenue, and got the bladders, returned to Willett Street .
' and. delivered them to Mrs. Warshaw at ten o’clock that o
. eveninge He sworf to the samd statement before Police Juste N
.+ 1ce Hogan, and also that he had never been arrested for crime’ -
i An examination by the Fire Marshal proved both statements te
!l be wholly false. He was subpeonafito appear at Essex Market .
i; Police Court, at an adjournment of the case;_but -he got--out
. of—thre--way and was not arrested %11l some weeks afterwards,
.. when he was committed-for-the-Grand Jury-and indicted fer .¢ .-
i Prerjurye el
: Upon ¥68kini=inte-the man’s career at the time i1t was
i learned that he Waqd been in the habit of writing letters
iite %he-Police.Captains, offering to make their repwtations
for $25¢- In a letter to a Breooklyn Captain, he offered to Tuveny

[T Sy

.

LA o i+ st Lich

o vaks

. W]

gk“nﬁme}ﬁputﬁupwaméeb to reb a house and catch the man in the act.
; ! | The Captain was te get all the credit for the arrest. This
' !appears to have been th@e favorite scheme-6f hise

The fellewing is thewrgcgrgcngKrgmegﬁﬁ in possession

|of the New-York Police and p#éR8GH€eq in Court at the time
iiof his pleadings :
- .Septe 1881~ arrested for Grand Larceny by Patrolman
Weinberg--City Hall Station, complaint withdrawne ... )
Oct. 1883~arrested for collecting money from custemers
of Haller & Coe., six months penitentiarye-Jan. 23rd, 1864.
Septe 1887~arrested for diserderly conduct-ten- days
City Prisoneee
April 1889-arrested for stealing wagen lean of fish, -
complaint withdrawne .
May 1889~-stele twenty dollars C O D package frem Dun-
lape’s express 86 Woorster,-complaint still pendinge
August 1889~ stele two overcoats, twe suits men’s cloth
ing, one double barrel gun, six fancy fould from house of
Mre. MecRoberts 33 S, 5th Ave., eof which he had charge at the
time,-stil1 pending..




March 1890-collected money for ton of ceal from Mr.
Browning, 119 Worster St., st411 pending.

Mareh 3890~ stole some harness frem Henry Rheinbardt
at Yetchkess?® stana , Gansevoorth Market, still pending.

Stole two sheep from Mre. larkey, Wallabout, Brooklyn,
complaint pendinge.
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SUBPCNA.
Cit, d¢C t ’ lriminal Cour uilding
"o Now Yok~ + 8 CORONERS’ OFFICE, “mine Sonrt Building,

Tle People of the State of New York, to

tely issue,

i

VE Coxyaxn Yor. thatlavine all other matters aside. you appear in your proper
person, before EMIL W. HOEBER, one of our CoroNkrs for the City and
County of New York, at tne Coroners’ Office, Criminal Court Building, Centre St.

" lying dead at
not to omit under the penalty of the law.

Precinct please serve,

Coroner of the City and Countiy of Newu: York.

If this Subpeena be disobeyed, an Attachment will immed
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District Police Court.

ND COUNTY,
EW YORK, SS.

11y examined before the under-

'gned"am,(rchno to la,w, on thdy aune*ced charge ; and bemo" informed that it is t to
make a Stats relation o the charge against iat the statement is desmrned‘
see ht d answer the charge exPplain the ﬂwta alleged against
waiver cannot be used

 Question, . e were -{/
_ Ans'wer. '

Question. a ou livpf and 1 n ] e you resicled there %
T <<_N)
T A ’« '

Answer.

Question. 6ur business or professmn ?

anecr § M%

ive any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances
testimony against you,
exculpation ?

appearing in the

Question,
T and state any facts which ~You think will tend to your




| erryanp couvry, . POLICE COURT, = DISTRICT.

O NEW YORK, _ | \ / g - . '
VYVl 22C oz i

Street, aged ___.L?:__Z’._.-yem*s,

P -
occupation ging duly sworn deposes and Says,
y -

that on the . day of N’é/éé@"/”k/ 1887 7
at t@ty F IVew I"/ork, in the County of INew York,....~£ SR W_& _W

) 2Pl Nraiica— Clinsfanl
o el R 7

[ SR WGP I P

.
‘.
( B




22

Police Court, V> District.
THE PEOPLE, &Lec.

ON TIIE COMPLA T OF
L /7
/7/7 (

[ =~
Dated W fl 188 .
/. é 2 Meagistrate.

%/ %4// Oj/'ir'er / } %W

Witness,

Dispositiorn,
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der that e be .e‘Zd o answer the same and @Q be admitted to bail in the swin of

I have admitted the above-named

to bail to answer by the wndertaking kereto annered.

Dqted 188

T'lere being no sufficient cause to believe the within named
le Yo be discharged.

guilty of the offence within mentioned, I order

Police 71l/;t_z‘ce.
7,




Court of Grneral Sessions of the Lrare

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

T PEOPLE OF THE STATE or. N EW YORK,

agaz-niz/,
M W ]

of New York, by this indietment, accuse

The Grand Jurs}the City and Co nty
J;LJ%L/A’/ 122/ >

of the CRIME oF ASSAULT IN THE THIRD DEGREE, committed as follows.

The said _W%WW N

in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and

and County aforesaid, in and upon the body of one

-in the peace of the said ];eople then and there being, with force

and arms, unlawfully did make an assault, and ’%/W the said ¢
—did then and there urlawfully beat, wound and ill-treat, to the great damage
) ——against the form of the

of the said N
_—_—
7 and against the peace’of the People of the State of

statute in such case made and provi
New York and their dignity. " e

BE L ANSEY NICOLL
JOHN=R=—FFEILOWS,

Districet Attorney.




- BOX:
438

FOLDER:
4035

DESCRIPTION:

Kuby, John W.

DATE:
05/05/91

M

4035
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POOR QUALITY
| ORIGINAL

REEEEE

‘m
r" '.I]

| SUBP@ENA FOR A WITNESS TO ATTEND THE GENERAL SESSIONS OF THE PEACy
| g

amsg of tbe}\wople of the 5tate of Mew Pork.

2

YOU ARE COMMANRNDED to appear before the Court of General Sessions of the Peace

¢

Street

in and for the City and County of New York, at the Sessions Building, adjoining the New Court
———

[SEE OTHER SIDE FOR OTHER DIRECTIONS.]

House in the City Hall Park, in the City of New York, on the
day of J e 189¢; at the hour of 11 in the forenoon of the same

PART IL

day, as a witness in a criminal actiopyprosecuted by the People of the State of New York, against

Dated at the City of New, rk, the first Monday of

in the year of our Lord 189g4.
/ '?E) W%YIJEEQE)'VVS, District Attorney.
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{& Bring this Subpcena with you, and give-it to the officer at the Court

351t this Subpeena is disobeyed, an attachment will immediately issue,
Room door, that your attendance may be known.




POOR QUALITY
ORIGINAL.

* Should the case not be c;fulled on for trial, and no rea-

son assigned in Cowrt p,l’eu.se inquire at the District
Attorney's Office about it,jand you may save time.

If inconvenient to remain, and you prefer another
day, state t.hls early to he District Attorney in the

‘Court.

If il when served, plep.se send timely word to the
District Attorney’s Office..

If you know of more teétim.ony than was produced be-
fore the Magistrate, or if a fact which you think ma-
terial was not there brought out, please state the same to
the District Attorney or one of his Assistants,




COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS OF THR PFEACH,

CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

NuveLvtrerLTYYR YR UL Y QY TuuUnNYrTINEOY vy

Th = P eopl a, Befors

vs. Hon.Fraderick Smyth,

JOHN W. XURBY. and a Juvry.
4 ;
Vs

TEEP 0P U TRRR 0D N ST YR YR OOP U CR VP A2 W2 tr P 4y 4y 4 Af AL L A I T R TR TR T TR TN T}

Tried June 1st, 18¢

Indicted for PETTY LARCENY.

Indictment f£il ad May 5th, 1891.

APPEARANCES :

"Asaigtant District Attorn sy Macdona, for The People.

James M. Bigger, Esq., and Mr.Wadej for The Defens e.

B
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MARY CONNOLLY,

the COMPLAINANT, testified that she lived

at 323 West 87th Streat, and that she was a widow.

She had a son, but he was dead. On the 21st of

April, 1891, her son, Josaeph, was living. She

Bad had his 1ife insured for nearly twaelve years——-

sinc 2 he was a childe. His 1if= was insured in the

Metropolitan Lif< Insurance Company of New York.

PDuring the 12 years rraceding his death she paid

thie premiums on i:is ife insurance regularly.

She had known the defendint from the

£211 of

1820,

when the Company first sent

him to collect

her pramiums.

Collector for the Company.

He rapresented hims=1f as the

On the 21st of

April she wmnt to the defendant's house in 27th

Street. She paid him ninety ¢ ents, which was

in advance, for the weaek ending April 27th. She

told the defendant that she wanted to get her re
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ceipt book from him. The defendant said that
it was in his drawer at the office, and that if she|
the complainant, would call on the following
avening, he would have it ready for her. She had
given the book to nim, the defendant. She conld
not raecull the date winen she gave it to the
defendant. She alsc had an insurance on her own
l1ife in the Company, and the ninety conts that
she paid was the prdmium on both lives. She
#gave the defendant the book, because sometimes

when he callad she would not be in, and she

would go to his house to make the payments of

rreomiuams. She gave him the book about January

1st, 1891. The deofendant said he would take
and se2 that everything was all

When she called later for the book,

1st of April, ne said that he had been
so busy tihat h=s'had not got to the office yet,

and had not got the book. She went ther= again

on ths 24th of April, her boy having died on the
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23rd. She saw the daefandant on the sidewalk,

in front of his house. She asked him to give her
her book, as her son was dead. Th > defe2ndant
said trat heo was very huasy, and he had not braen to
his office that day, and, he added, *IT will comao
ur with the book to you to-morrow,% and that

was Saturday, and she, the complainant, waited all
diy, and he did not come, and she weaent down on
Saturday even when she thought he would be back

to his house. It was about 8 o'clock when she

g0t thereo, and he was not there yeot. She, the

complainant, went into tire house with a lady

fPriend, and talked to the defendant's wife.
Botweaon 3 and 7 o'clock she saw the defendant.
He.was very polite, and said that he was ver;
busy, as before, and that sne, the complainant,
must me~t him on Monday night, at his housea,
and he would makae ~very thing straight about the
book. She, the complainant, was accompanied

by a friend, Mrs. Smith. She, the complainant,




gain to the defendant's house, on
and ne did not appear. She

remainsd ther2 until 10 o'clock, but he did not
coma home. On the following Wednasday av sning,
at about & o'clock, she waited for the dofeondant
outside of his house, and met hii at the corner,
as he got off a car. Then the defendant said to
ner that the Corpany was a lot of frauds, and
that thay had her book at theivr offie a. She last
saw the book in the defendant's possession abou+t 4
month before the 21st of April. She, the complain-
ant, gave her policy on her son's 1ifas, together
with the doctor's certificate, on or about April
24th, to the Company, represanted by Mr. Williams.
Mr.Williams was Superintends=nt of the Company,
and she gave him the policy and the doctor's
eertificite in the offices of the Company. She

ec 2ived nothing from the Comapany, and was c¢om-

P2lled to com=s down to court every day, though

she had to borrow her car fare. In




the complainant testifiaed that during the 12
Yyears that she paid the Praemiums on the policy
on her son's 1ife there ware many collectors sont
by the Company to her in succession. She had
given her book to other colil 2c tors before shae
gave it to the defendant. She was not notifia=d
shortly before her son's deathn that shie was in
arrears to the Company. The defendant said, on
the 21st of April, when she called at his house
to make a payment, that she was in arrears five
wasks. She, the complainant, thought it was only
four, but she did not mak-e j bje2etion, and
gave him what he askad. Her son died a day or
two after this, and she notified the Company of
her son's death on the 24th of April, and took
the policy down to the Company's ofFfice. At

the office she was informed by the Superintendent

that the defendant had lapsed her poliecy, and
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they wou1ld not Pay her anything.

WILLIAMS, testified that he was Superintend =nt

of Agents for the Metropolitan Life Insuranc =
Comprany of the City of Naw York, the offic= of

the Company being at 32 Park Placa. He, the

witness, was not located a2t that office, but at

2 West 14th Streot, a branch of fic 2. As Superin-

tend ent of Agonts, he had charge of collections

made on the West side of the City for the Con~
rany. The agents made their roturn to him, and
he remitt=d to the Company. He, the witness,

knev the defeondant. The defendant had been in

the employ of the Company, and he, the witness,
was familiar with the defendant's handwriting. He

identifi=d a book which was handed to him as a
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book in which agents ket a record of payments

made to them and of their collections. The book

‘had been used by Kuby, and the writing on page
100 was that of Kuby's-—-at least the figures
certainly weore nis, and they related to the
rolicy of Mrs. Connolly upon the 1ife of her

son. The d=fendant left the Conmrany's employ
about the middle of March, 1891, and the Company
gof the bock in question from the @efendant

about a weeaek or two lat ar. The defendant was dis-
charged for embezzlement, and the Company im-
mediately closed out his account. It was clos—
ed out on the 23rd of March. Afteyr that date ne
had no authority to rerresent the Company. In
the bhook, under the date of April 21st, 1891,
ther2 appeared no entry relating to the policy

in querstion. The last date in rolation to the

rolicy in question was JFanuary 268th, 18S91. On

the 29th of Dec ember, 1391, thes defendant sent

a notice ¥apsing the policy to the Company, and




it was lapsed off the books of the Company.

~sabouts, the defendant was authorized to
collect monay for the Company. The defondant
discharged hims 21 by running away with the Com-
pany's money. He, the witnaess, ses
Kuby again until he saw him in the police court,
under arreaeste. I+ was customary for the Comr

pany to take bonds for theivr collectors, in the

sum of $100. or $200. The Company had inguir-

aed of Kuby's bondsman wher= Kuby was. Th »
bondsman said thnat he would bring down the do-
fandant to the Company on the Wadnesday follow-
the 18th of March. Ha, > Wwitness, went to
defendant's house twice, and saw his wife,
sent an assistant there, but neither he
his assistant could 1lsarn of the defendant's

whereabouts. The bondsman said that he haad




seon Kuby in the City.

FOR THE DEFENSE,

JOHN W. XUBY, the DEFENDANT, testified that he had re

in New York about ninne Years, and nhe was

emploﬁ 2d by the Mstropolitan Life Insurance
Company in Saptamber, 1S890. Previously he had
beeon amployed in the cigar business. He had
made collections from tha= complainant. Ha yo-
Proesentad himself as an agent of the Company, in
September, 1890, first, for the purpose of col~
lecting the premiums on her policies. Sh = was

always behindhand in her Payments, and he tolad




hey often, "Mrs. Kuby, if you don't keep up
your payments, 1 will have to laps= you." Th e
complainant was a poor womail, and he himsel?
kert 11p her payments for her. On Faebruary 1Sth
he had to larsa her. She was then

in arrears. She had paid up to

and, according to the instructions of the Com~
pany, he larsed he» on Fsbruary S8th or 19th. In
the latter part of March she made a payment of
thirty ¢ snits—~—-in the latter part of Fsbruary—--—-
and he, the witness, gave her a revival rsasceipt
for it. The meaning of that raec =2 was, that
the policiaes waere revivad, bu ig AP , sShea
mad 2 No mor< payments. She did not pay him 90
c2nts on April 21st. She did not pray him a penny
after the latter part of Fsbruary, after he gave
her the revival rzeesipt. He could not remsmber

whether he had raeported giving the revival re-

ceipt to the Company. The complainant did not

call at his house until after her son was dead.
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The complainant said, "What shall I do?" - He,
the defendaht, said, "You have your poliecy, and
if you have your book, ¢gbw‘down to the Company.

1 have nothing more to do with th-> Company.? In

testified that this conversation
occurr»r~d on tha 24th 6r 25th of April—--—at any
rata, in the lattesr part of April. Th e com-
rlainant saw him then in the stre=t, in front of
PDr. Miller's house; not his own house. It was
about a guarter & or half-past 5, in the
evening. Then th= complainan®t told him, the
daef endant, that her son was dead. Mrs. Smith
was not prasent at the time. Myrs. Smith céme
there two days later. He, the defendant, did not
hand hex» her receipt book. He did not t=11 her
tha+t he had her book in his drawer in the office

of the Company, and that he would make the =2ntry




of the 90 caents in the book, and give her back

the book. He naever had her book in his posses-

sion. When h= told the complainant that she had
better go down to s22 the Company, with her
policy and her» book, he know that her policy
laps ed. He kxnew that she counld not get any

mon<y upon the policy, hbut he rafeorred

the Company any way. He rveoferrsei her to the

Bompany, beocdause he had nothing to do with the
Coupany any moyre. For all he knew, ths policy
might have been raevived beforae that time, and all
r=id up. He, the defeondant, did not t=11 her
that her policy was lzrs =d. He, the d-fmndant,
had never beon arrested bafore in his 1ife, on

any charge.




IN REBUTTAL.

MARGARET SMITH, testified that shé lived in Brookls-n.

She had known the complainant, krs. Connolly,

for a long time, and +thay were Iriends. On the
24th of April she went with the complainant 1O
call upon the defendant, and th<y saw him. Mrs.
Connolly first went down to the basement where the
defondant iived, and she, the wirness, stood upon
the sidaewalk, and a man said to her, the witness,

YThera's the man you1 aye looking for, at the

bottom of the streect. There is crooked work.

Keep your eye on him, or he will steal away from
you." Snhae, the witness, ket her oy 2= on him, and
told the defendant to YGo down stairs into the

has e2maen+t, as there's a lady thesre who wanted to
sm2 him. The dafendant said, "What does she

want of me?" And he turned up the steps again,




the witness, put her hand on his arm
and said, "Stop and speak to her, any way,"
she, th2 witness, cailled Mrs. Connolly out of
bas sment, and the defeondant was confused when
sha camn~ up. Sh< asked the defendant for her
book, and theo de=fesndant said, *"Tt is in the

of fice, arawar. Th= complainant said,

"T want wont .owu come down with me now,

and get . The defondant said, "No; I wont
go down with you. I will go and get it, and
coms on Monday night, at 8 o'clock, and T will

be hesrs and 1 will have it for you. It is

all right." In

th~ witness testified that she had known Mrs.
Connolly about forty ye=ars, =ind had known her
peaopls= in Ireland.
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Police Court Affidavit—Larceny.

Wity and (!Unuuty{ ]
of Wew Hork, | *°

of No. / = %& %’ Z’ years,

occupation bezng duly sworn,

deposes and says, that on the og 18/9/ at the Céty of Neéw
York, in the County of New York, was felonzousl Y taken, stolen and carried away from the pos-

session of deponent, in the







CITY AND COUNTY | s
OF NEW YORK, |8

aged f / Years, occupation..,

Street, being dnly sworn deposes and

2 s —_— e ——

says, that he has heard read the foregoing affidavit of

knowledge.

Sworn Lo before me, this

day of.

e

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponents’ own




A . : District Police Court.

" See. 198—-200

CITY AND COUNTY

M\ | -
Z’ M’-f : being duly examined before the wunder-

fgned accordlnc, to law, on the wnm{xed charge ; and being informed that it is h (\unht to
make a statement in relation to the charge against 11'\ that the statement is designed to

enable h L\ if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h \
that he is at liberty.to waive making a statement, and that ©h Y _ waiver cannot be used

against h “~~.__ on the trial.

Question. What is your name %

Answer. X W %

Question. How old are you ?

Answer, 2 2_ 2>

Question. Where were you born 7

- —-Answer.

Question. ‘Vhere do you live, and how long hfwe you 1‘e51ded there 'Z

Amnswer. 1 o — 73/._—2'.‘7

‘\
Question. What 1s  your business or professmn ?

~

Give any explanation you may think proper of the mrcumsta.nceb appearing in the

Question.

testimony against you, and sState’ any facts which Jyoi think will"tend to your |
exculpation ?




Sec. 151.

In the name of the People of the State of New Yorky; o the Sheriff of the County

" CITY AND COUNTY | __
* of New XYork, or ang apfhal or Foliceman of the Czt;l/ of New XYork:

OF NEW.YORK,

Jus;%j of New X ork, by
— ; % / that on the

the following artic

Dollars,

€, the said Complainant has prayed that the said Defendant may be apprehended and bound to

answer the said complaint.

Sheriff, dlarshals an LPolicemen, and every of _you, to apprehend the bod...
and forthwith ‘bring before me,atthe =7 DISTRICT POLICE COURT, in the said City, or in

case of my absence or inability to act, before the nearest or mest accessible Police Justice in this City, to answer the

said charge, and to be dealt with accordm/g@zl%

Dated ut the City of New Y ork, this

A 2. = POLICE JusTICE




The within named

) -having been brought before me wunder this Warrant,

to the

examination

for

tted

WARDEN and KEEPER of the City Prison of the City of New York.

18 comimni

188

Dated.

LPolice Justice.
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It appearing to me by the within depositions and statements that the crime therein mentioned has beer.

convmiitied, and that there is sufficient cause to belicve the within naned

MW%{/\

Suilty thereof, I order that he be held to answer the same and he

be admitted {o bail in the swm of

Hundred Dollars and be co

the C’Lty Wthe City of New Fork, until he Tye stuc,

Dated ; \/M 2z zg-? /'I

T have admitted the above-named

to bail to answer by tie undertaking lereto annexed.

78 : Police Justice.

Dated

There being no sufficient cause to believe the within named

Luilty of the offence within mentioned. I order h to be discharged.

Police Justice.

- Dated




@Wonrt of General Sessions of the Weace

Or THE City AND County oF NEwW YORK.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK,
AGAINST

accuse

committed as follows:

The said%.._?&.ﬁt._,w =P
late of the City of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on thw

~==....in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and

TS T, at the City and Coulhlty' aforesaid, with force and arms, with intent to

deprive and defraud.. oo

It WIS

of the proper moneys, goods chattels and personal property hereinafter mentioned, and of

the use and benefit thereof, and to appropriate the same toPemmera....own use, did then and




/

And the said. > XXCHe

then and theizelieving the said false and fraudulent pretemses and representations so made

as aforesaid by th 1d. S e
s aforesai y the sai <

and being deceived thereby, was induced, by reason of the false and fraudulent pretenses and

representations so made as. aforesaid, to- delivér, and did then and there deliver to the said

did then and there feloniously receive and obtain the said proper moneys, goods, chattels, and

personal property, from the possession of the said MM““’\"‘

of the same, and of the use and benefit thereof, afid to appropriate the same tORenm’ own use

W@ Irereas, in troth and in fact, the said TS Shewn=5S E




gl]:a ‘ﬁmhm:.eas, in truth and in fact, the Pretenses and representations so made

as aforesaid by the said

to the said. —>Coe

at the time of making the same then and there well knew

And su the Grand Fnry Dfovesaid, do say that the saia....... . .

in thefmanner and form aforesaid, by the means aforesaid, the said proper moneys, goods,

chattels and personal property of the sai

then and there feloniously did sTEAL, against the form of the Statute in such case made and
provided, and against the peace and dignity of the said people.
= Sm: N B R ——
14

District Attorney.




DESCRIPTION:

Kueher, Jacob

DATE:

05/07/91

e
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@ourt of General Sessions of the Weace,

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

THE PROPLE OF THE STATE oF NEW YORK,
WMM

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment,

accuse\‘%— W@IM_,—

of the CRIME oF KEEPING OPEN OoN SUNDAY a place licensed for the SALE oF STRONG

AND SPIRITUOUS LIQUORS, WINES, ALE AND BEER, committed as follows :

The said—___ W&Q}' T/M/)/

late of the City of: New York, in the ‘County of New York aforesaid, on the

\&/\ L ‘W &ay of b ‘ W\/L.() in the year of our Lord one

thousand eig(t hundred and —/MQ, the same being the first day of the
week, commonly called and known as Sunday, being then and there in charge of, and
having the control of a certain place there situate, which was then duly licensed as a
place for the sale of strong and spirituous liquors, wines, ale and beer, with force
and arms, at the City and County aforesaid, the said place so licensed as aforesaid,
unlawfully did not close and keep closed, and on the said day the said place so licensed
as aforesaid unlawfully did open and cause and procure, and suffer and permit to be open,
and to remain open, against the form of the Statute in such case made and provided,

and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

BE LANCEY NiCDL1
JOHN R, FELLOWS,
District Attorney.




